
AGENDA
Regular City Council Meeting

 Monday, March 1, 2021, 6:00 PM
Council Chambers, 116 First Street, Neptune Beach, Florida

1. CALL TO ORDER / ROLL CALL / PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

2. AWARDS / PRESENTATIONS / RECOGNITION OF GUESTS / NONE

3. APPROVAL OF MINUTES

A. February 1, 2021 Regular City Council Meeting
February 16, 2021 Special City Council Meeting
February 16, 2021 Workshop City Council Meeting

4. COMMUNICATION / CORRESPONDENCE / REPORTS

 Mayor
 City Council
 City Manager

 City Attorney
 City Clerk
 Departmental Reports

5. COMMENTS FROM THE PUBLIC

6. CONSENT AGENDA / NONE

7. VARIANCES / SPECIAL EXCEPTIONS / DEVELOPMENT ORDERS

A. Second of Two Public Hearings—Development Agreement between City of Neptune Beach
and Neptune Beach, FL Realty LLC, for the property known as 540580 Atlantic Boulevard
(RE#1723950130)

B. V2001 Application for variance as outlined in Chapter 27, Article 8 of the Unified Land
Development Code of Neptune Beach for Neptune Beach Fl Realty, LLC for the property
known as 540580 Atlantic Blvd (RE#1723950130). This property is former Lucky's Market
in the Neptune Beach Plaza. The variance request is to provide relief from Note 6 of Table
272291 by varying the 1000 linear foot requirement for businesses that operate under
common business ownership or management, share a warehouse or distribution facility, or
otherwise operate as an associated, integrated or cooperative business shall not exceed a
combined sixty thousand (60,000) square feet of total gross floor area in aggregate.

8. ORDINANCES

A. ORDINANCE NO. 202101, FIRST READ AND PUBLIC HEARING, An Ordinance
of  the  City  of  Neptune  Beach,  Florida,  Amending  Chapter  22  of  the  Code  of
Ordinances,  Traffic  and  Motor  Vehicles,  by  Amending  Section  2246,  Penalties;
Providing for Conflicts; Providing for Severability; and Providing an Effective Date.

9. OLD BUSINESS / NONE

10. NEW BUSINESS

Page 1 of 183

p. 3

p. 19

p. 68

p. 173

PH

PH

PH

NBCityClerk
Highlight



A. RESOLUTION NO. 202105, A Resolution of the City of Neptune Beach Requesting a
Beaches Trail Loop/East Coast Greenway Feasibility Study Be Included in the North
Florida Transportation Planning Organization's 2021/2022 Unified Planning Work Program

B. Discussion of ResidentRequested Statement Concerning MixedUse Zoning

11. COUNCIL COMMENTS

12. ADJOURN

Page 2 of 183

p. 179

To view the meeting online, please register for Regular City Council Meeting on Mar 1, 
2021 6:00 PM EST at:

https://attendee.gotowebinar.com/register/1002870466530193679

After registering, you will receive a confirmation email containing information about 
joining the webinar.



FEBRUARY 1, 2021 SPECIAL COUNCIL  MEETING PAGE 1 

MINUTES 
REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

MONDAY, FEBRUARY 1, 2021, 6:00 P.M. 
NEPTUNE BEACH CITY HALL 

116 FIRST STREET 
NEPTUNE BEACH, FLORIDA 32266 

Pursuant to proper notice, a Regular City Council Meeting of the City Council of the City of 
Neptune Beach was held on Monday, February 1, 2021, at 6:00 p.m., at Neptune Beach 
City Hall, 116 First Street, Neptune Beach, Florida 32266. 

Attendance: IN ATTENDANCE: STAFF: 
Mayor Elaine Brown 
Vice Mayor Fred Jones  
Councilor Kerry Chin 
Councilor Lauren Key 
Councilor Josh Messinger 

Councilor Chin attended virtually 
due to illness 

City Manager Stefen Wynn 
City Attorney Zachary Roth 
Chief of Police Richard Pike 
Chief Financial Officer Carl LaFleur 
Public Works Director Jim French 
Mobility Management Director Megan Steward 
Senior Center Director Leslie Lyne 
Grant and Resiliency Coordinator Colin Moore 
Community Development Director Kristina Wright 
Code Compliance Supervisor Piper Turner 
City Clerk Catherine Ponson 

Call to 
Order/Roll Call 

Mayor Brown called the meeting to order at 6:00 p.m. and led the Pledge of Allegiance. 

AWARDS / PRESENTATIONS/ RECOGNITION OF GUESTS 

National Gun 
Violence 
Survivors Week 

Mayor Brown read and presented a proclamation designating February 1-7, 2021, National 
Gun Violence Survivors Week in Neptune Beach. 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

Minutes Made by Jones, seconded by Messinger. 

MOTION: TO APPROVE THE FOLLOWING MINUTES: 

January 19, 2020, Special City Council Meeting 

Roll Call Vote: 
Ayes: 5- Chin, Key, Messinger, Jones, and Brown.
Noes: 0

MOTION CARRIED 

Page 3 of 183



 FEBRUARY 1, 2021 REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING PAGE 2 
 

 COMMUNICATIONS / CORRESPONDENCE / REPORTS 
  
City Manager 
Report 

City Manager Stefen Wynn reported the following: 
• Jarboe Park improvements are well underway. He presented a revised 

construction timeline. 
• Site work has been completed and foundation poured for the Senior Center. 
• The Vision Plan, Comprehensive Plan and LDC schedule has been updated and 

is available at  https://www.neptunebeachvisionplan.com. 
• The traffic study along Bay Street is still ongoing and data is being collected. 
• The quarterly report for North Beaches Parking was presented. 

 
All monthly City Manager reports can be found, in their entirety, at: https://www.ci.neptune-
beach.fl.us/city-manager/pages/city-manager-reports 

  
Police Chief 
Report 

Police Chief Richard Pike clarified that in any unposted residential area, the speed limit is 
30 m.p.h., pursuant to Florida Statute. He stated he will present an accurate traffic reading 
next month. He presented the January monthly report. 

  
 Councilor Messinger requested including a page in the report for traffic accidents. This 

would delve into the complete streets and sidewalk programs that would make our streets 
safer. 

  
                                                 PUBLIC COMMENTS / NONE 
  
 ORDINANCES / NONE 
  
 OLD BUSINESS / NONE 
  
 NEW BUSINESS 
  
Res. No. 2021-
02, Request to 
COJ for Third 
Street 
Improvements 

Resolution No. 2021-02, A Resolution of the City of Neptune Beach Requesting 
Improvements to Third Street (State Road A1A) to Address Pedestrian and Bicyclist 
Safety, Vehicle Turning Movements at Vehicle/Pedestrian Conflict Points, Drainage and 
Aesthetics Be Placed on the 2021 Duval County List of Priority Projects. 

 Mayor Brown explained this is a request for Third Street improvements to be placed on the 
2021 Duval County List of Priority Projects “complete streets” and “context sensitive” 
concepts for improvements to Third Street. 

  
 Councilor Chin stated he supports this resolution. 
  
 Councilor Messinger commented this is an excellent step in the right direction and he 

supports this.  
  
 Vice Mayor Jones added this is exactly the process you go through to get the project. This 

is how Mayport Road has made the list of priority projects.  
  
 Councilor Key stated this has been needed for some time and is glad it is being addressed. 
  
 Made by Messinger, seconded by Key. 
  
 MOTION:     TO APPROVE RESOLUTION NO. 2021-02, REQUESTING 

IMPROVEMENTS TO THIRD STREET (A1A) BE INCLUDED ON 
2021 DUVAL COUNTY LIST OF PRIORITY PROJECTS 

  
  
  

Page 4 of 183

https://www.neptunebeachvisionplan.com/


 FEBRUARY 1, 2021 REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING PAGE 3 
 

 Roll Call Vote: 
 Ayes: 5-Key, Messinger, Chin, Jones, and Brown. 

Noes:    0  
  
 MOTION CARRIED 
  
Res. No. 2021-03, 
Supporting State 
Legislation 
Regarding 
Regulation of  
Trees 

Resolution No. 2021-03, A Resolution of the City Council of the City of Neptune Beach, 
Florida, Supporting Florida Senate Bill 596 and Companion House Bill 6023, Which Would 
Repeal Florida Statute 163.045 to Enable Local Governments to Regulate Matters Relating 
to Trees Located on Residential Properties; Providing for Conflicts; and Providing for an 
Effective Date. 

 City Attorney Zachary Roth explained there was legislation passed two years ago that 
essentially allowed carte blanche destruction of trees on residential property. This bill 
repeals that legislation. It does not amend it. The City can go back to enforcing our own 
Code. This bill would be a huge step in terms of Home Rule.  

  
 Vice Mayor Jones stated this is good policy in getting us back to protecting local quality of 

life. 
  
 Councilor Key expressed that all cities are different and we should be given the right to 

decide what is right for our City. 
  
 Councilor Chin added that this really about Home Rule. He has had many calls from upset 

neighbors, and he supports this resolution. 
  
 Councilor Messinger commented it is about Home Rule and it is a huge quality of life issue.  
  
 Made by Messinger , seconded by Key. 
  
 MOTION:       TO APPROVE RESOLUTION NO. 2021-03, SUPPORTING   

LEGISLATION ENABLING LOCAL GOVERNMENTS TO 
REGULATE MATTERS RELATING TO TREES 

  
  
 Roll Call Vote: 
 Ayes: 5-Messinger, Chin, Key, Jones, and Brown. 

Noes:    0 
  
 MOTION CARRIED 
  
Jarboe Park Bids Authorization for City Manager to Solicit Bids for All Courts in Jarboe Park. 
  
 Mr. Wynn reported that the City received an estimate on what it would cost to improve the 

courts in Jarboe Park. Due to the poor base of the courts, the City estimates the cost to be 
enough to put the project out to bid. 

  
 Made by Jones, seconded by Messinger. 
  
 MOTION:                  TO AUTHORIZE THE CITY MANAGER TO SOLICIT BIDS FOR ALL  

COURTS IN JARBOE PARK 
  
 Roll Call Vote: 
 Ayes: 5-Chin, Messinger, Key, Jones, and Brown. 

Noes:    0 
  
 MOTION CARRIED 
  

Page 5 of 183



 FEBRUARY 1, 2021 REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING PAGE 4 
 

    

 COUNCIL COMMENTS 
  
 Vice Mayor Jones reported that a consultant has been selected for the Penman Road 

Study. The contract needs to be reviewed and the project should be underway next month. 
  
 Councilor Messinger commented that Neptune Beach has collected a lot of data and 

opinions from our City. He requested that this is transferred to those consultants early on 
so we are not transmitting at the end when they have done their planning. 

  
Adjournment There being no further business, the meeting adjourned at 6:41 p.m. 
   
   
   
  Elaine Brown, Mayor 
 Attest:   
   
 Catherine Ponson, CMC 

City Clerk 
 
Approved: ________________ 

 

Page 6 of 183



 FEBRUARY 16, 2021 SPECIAL COUNCIL  MEETING PAGE 1 
 
 

 

 
 

 MINUTES 
SPECIAL CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

TUESDAY, FEBRUARY 16, 2021, 6:00 P.M. 
NEPTUNE BEACH CITY HALL 

116 FIRST STREET 
NEPTUNE BEACH, FLORIDA 32266 

 Pursuant to proper notice, a Special City Council Meeting of the City Council of the City of 
Neptune Beach was held on Tuesday, February 16, 2021, at 6:00 p.m., at Neptune Beach 
City Hall, 116 First Street, Neptune Beach, Florida 32266. 

   
Attendance: IN ATTENDANCE: STAFF: 
 Mayor Elaine Brown 

Vice Mayor Fred Jones  
Councilor Kerry Chin 
Councilor Lauren Key 
Councilor Josh Messinger 
 
 

City Manager Stefen Wynn 
City Attorney Zachary Roth 
Chief of Police Richard Pike 
Chief Financial Officer Carl LaFleur 
Public Works Director Jim French 
Mobility Management Director Megan Steward 
Senior Center Director Leslie Lyne 
Grant and Resiliency Coordinator Colin Moore 
Community Development Director Kristina Wright 
City Clerk Catherine Ponson 
 

Call to 
Order/Roll 
Call/Pledge 

Mayor Brown called the Special Meeting to order at 6:00 p.m. and Councilor Messinger led 
the Pledge of Allegiance. 

  
Public Hearing-
Development 
Agreement 

First of Two Public Hearings—Development Agreement between City of Neptune Beach 
and Neptune Beach, FL Realty LLC, for the property known as 540-580 Atlantic Boulevard 
(RE#172395-0130) 

  
 Mayor Brown explained this is the first of two public hearings on a Development 

Agreement between the City of Neptune Beach and Neptune Beach, FL Realty LLC. 
  
Public Hearing Mayor Brown opened the public hearing. There being no comments from the public, the 

public hearing was closed. 
  
Neptune Beach 
City Attorney 

Mayor Brown asked City Attorney Zachary Roth to remind everyone where we are and how 
we got to this process. 

  
 City Attorney Zachary Roth explained that about one year ago, the owners of the property, 

Neptune Beach, FL LLC, approached the City about the old Lucky’s space which was in 
bankruptcy. The idea was for Publix to acquire the lease and potentially to move into that 
space. The City had concerns regarding a provision of our Code regarding similar run 
businesses. Staff also opined that the City was not certain that the property would qualify 
for a variance. 

  
  

Page 7 of 183



 FEBRUARY 16, 2021 SPECIAL COUNCIL MEETING PAGE 2 
 

 The idea developed of a development agreement to perform tasks on the property that 
may alter it and make the variance provisions a little more applicable here.  

  
 Over the process, it is a development agreement, that will be recorded into the public 

record that is designed essentially for certain improvement updates, activity, landscaping 
and things like that to this parcel that would alter the analysis into this document.  

  
 The development agreement has been heavily negotiated through the process in terms of 

what is going to be done, how do we guarantee it is going to be done and what happens if 
it is not done. 

  
 Instead of just the language of the document, there are also photos, landscaping plans and 

building plans that have run parallel in this process. Mr. Roth added that we are to a point 
where the development agreement is in place where the parties are comfortable to bring to 
Council. 

  
 There are certain deadlines within this agreement that are provided. The developer has to 

meet those deadlines at various stages in terms of building permits, plan submissions, 
initial instruction, construction deadlines, and items like that. This is a binding date. Each 
time a binding date is not met, there is an extension fee. Those fees will be held in an 
escrow fund by Ansbacher Law, P.A.  

  
Applicant 
Presentation 

Andrew Greene, Vice-President, TLM Realty, applicant and property owner, introduced  
individuals joining virtually who were involved in the process, including Bob Balcerak,, 
David Rubin, Anthony Rodriguez, and Andy Pillari with Publix, and Jake Cremer and Elise 
Bartel with Stearns, Weaver, Miller. He gave a brief overview of what was presented to the 
Community Development Board in September, 2020.  

  
 He presented placemaking enhancements for the proposed area, including a new 

pedestrian plaza on Lemon Street, expanded front walk and new courtyard. He anticipates 
coffee shops and restaurants will use that area. 

  
 Along Atlantic Boulevard, as you are driving toward the ocean, they would retain some of 

the mature landscaping and there would be a new monument sign to match the modern 
renovation. There would be a vehicular connection to 630 Atlantic Boulevard. 

  
 A final concept or addition to the development agreement are City Manager Coordination 

Meetings. These meetings will give City staff the opportunity to review the latest design 
plan and confirm that those plans continue to be in keeping with the exhibits.  

  
Council 
Questions 

Councilor Key asked what guarantees does the City have or does Mr. Greene have that 
Publix will move into the space. 

  
 Mr. Greene explained that there is a condition in the development agreement that a lease 

get signed from Lucky’s Market to Publix. Publix is contractually obligated to open in that 
location within 19 months.  

  
 Mr. Roth stated that there should at least be a provision that  there is an obligation to open 

it that is enforceable by specific performance.  
  
 Mr. Greene indicated that there are other small shops and those tenants are going to want 

to be sure that Publix will open. 
  
 Councilor Key asked to see a copy of the lease. Mr. Green stated it is confidential but he 

could review that provision with the City Attorney. He answered that the lease would 
probably be terminated to Councilor Key’s inquiry of what would happen if they did not 
open. 

  

Page 8 of 183



 FEBRUARY 16, 2021 SPECIAL COUNCIL MEETING PAGE 3 
 

 Vice Mayor Jones questioned if the developer had any active discussion with Seminole 
Shoppes at 630 Atlantic Boulevard regarding that parcel connection. 

  
 Mr. Greene answered that there was a requirement for the construction of a roadway in the 

2010 development of 630 Atlantic. They have completed their section.  
  
 Councilor Messinger added that there is no intention to complete that connection and then 

install bollards to make it effectively complete but not useable.  
  
Discussion Councilor Chin commented that some of what the City wants to do is create a more 

walkeable community and encourage bicycling as alternate modes of transportation. He 
questioned if there are 20 bike parking spots or 20 bike racks and asked what was the 
intention. 

  
 Mr. Greene stated those were the kinds of elements to be developed but there would be 

proper accessible parking with several locations. 
  
 Councilor Messinger said that the overall plan has a significant increase of over 70 

hardwoods and he had expressed during the feedback that he wanted more tree canopy. 
He agreed with Councilor Chin regarding bicycles and it would be ideal to increase bike 
parking. Overall, it would be a great improvement to Atlantic Boulevard. He would like to 
see the bicycle parking squared away before the next meeting. 

  
 Vice Mayor Jones expressed it would be a great opportunity to work with local artists to 

come up with some schematics to provide parking. He stated that the development 
agreement references mobility fees on Page 9 of the agreement. Neptune Beach does not 
have those so it may be simple to just call it impact fees since it constitutes a specific 
entitlement.  

  
 Councilor Key questioned, in order to understand, that they would be doing improvements 

to the property in order to get a variance that is not in compliance with our big box 
ordinance. 

  
 Mr. Roth said that the intention behind this Development Agreement and the modification is 

to create a circumstance better qualifies the property for a variance. 
  
 Councilor Key questioned that potentially the property that has been an eyesore for the 

community, would be given a variance, on an ordinance we have something against, in 
order for them to start improving the property. 

  
 Mr. Roth stated that the Development Agreement and the variance go hand in hand. The 

Development Agreement is tied to the variance that would vary the provision of our Code 
regarding the big box ordinance in recognition of the improvements, modifications, and 
alterations. 

  
 Mayor Brown conveyed that a lot of time has been put into this with input from everyone. 

There is protection for the City and she feels comfortable with where we are with 
recommendations by our City Attorney. 

  
 Made by Jones, seconded by Messinger. 
  
 MOTION:                         TO MOVE THE DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT TO A SECOND 

READ ON MARCH 1, 2021 
  
 Roll Call Vote: 
 Ayes: 4-Chin, Messinger, Jones, and Brown. 
 Noes: 1-Key 
   

Page 9 of 183



 FEBRUARY 16, 2021 SPECIAL COUNCIL MEETING PAGE 4 
 

 MOTION CARRIED 
  
ACON Constr.- 
Change Order 
#1 

Approval of  ACON Construction, Change Order #1 - Jarboe Park Improvements Phase I. 

 Mr. Wynn reported that the original contract price was $279,379.98. The change order 
amount is $41,812.50 for a new total of $321,192.48. The additional work being added 
includes grading of additional fill materials at the pickle ball, basketball and tennis courts; 
additional asphalt at handicapped parking near bridge; strip and removal of existing asphalt 
from tennis courts; grading of limerock and fill; grading of relocated areas; and installation 
of concrete circular path adjacent to Neptune House. 

  
 Councilor Messinger thanked City staff for all of their hard work in this project. 
  
 Councilor Key stated there should be more accountability on funding. There are a lot 

projects that are costly. She questioned where the City is right now without any other 
change orders. 

  
 Mr. Wynn reported if this change order and the next item on the agenda are approved, it is 

roughly $646,000 without the courts.  
  
 Councilor Key expressed that the courts, sidewalks, sod, parking and stormwater still have 

to be completed. She asked for a ball park figure for where will the City be with all of that 
added in. 

  
 Mr. Wynn replied depending on the court costs, most likely, one million dollars. 
  
 Councilor Key stated she had reviewed prior budgets to get a better understanding. Those 

costs for Jarboe Park, with a five-year plan, reported $287,000 and now we are at one 
million. She is concerned and plans on addressing these issues at the Finance Committee 
meeting on February 24. She has a hard time approving a change order when there isn’t a 
full grasp on what we are spending. 

  
 Councilor Chin questioned the reason for the additional fill and if it is an engineering 

reason. 
  
 Mr. Wynn explained one of the water lines coming from the water plant goes under the 

volleyball courts. The courts are shallower than the design engineer thought. Public Works 
Director Jim French looked at the calculations and in order to make this work and have 
positive drainage, the pad would need to be raised. 

  
 Councilor Messinger pointed out that you would have to go back to the previous City 

Manager’s budgeting to see why we are where we are at today. Actual true budgeting 
started happening when Mr. Wynn came on board. Grant and Resiliency Coordinator Colin 
Moore has been writing a significant amount of grant money for this project. He added the 
current budget and the budget from last year are greatly improved. 

  
 Mayor Brown thanked City staff for reviewing the project and doing as much as we can in-

house. We have a project that has gone over budget and we will make sure we get a much 
clearer picture moving forward. 

  
 Made by Messinger, seconded by Jones. 
  
 MOTION:          TO APPROVE AKON CONSTRUCTION, CHANGE ORDER #1,  

JARBOE PARK IMPROVEMENTS PHASE I IN THE AMOUNT OF 
$41,812.50 

  
  

Page 10 of 183



 FEBRUARY 16, 2021 SPECIAL COUNCIL MEETING PAGE 5 
 

  
 Roll Call Vote: 
  Ayes: 4- Messinger, Chin, Jones, and Brown. 

Noes:    1-Key 
  
 MOTION CARRIED 
  
KOMPAN 
Playground 
Equipment-
Change Order 
#1 

Approval of KOMPAN Playground Equipment, Change Order # 1 - Jarboe Park 
Improvement Phase I. 

 Councilor Messinger explained that this is for two additional sail shades and more 
playground equipment. This is based on feedback received. These are 20-year and 10-
year warrantied equipment. This vendor came back with the highest review for quality and 
longevity. This is a long-term investment for the community. The original sales proposal 
was $232,801.05. The amended sales proposal is $288,651.83. The change order is for 
the difference of $55,850.78 

  
 Councilor Key stated she supports children having a fun and safe place to play. Right now, 

her concerns are where we are with the budget and the spending of our Better Jax Funds. 
She does not feel comfortable approving things until she has a better understanding of 
where we are with the budget right now. 

  
 Councilor Chin commented that the reason for the changes is resident-driven. He is 

sympathetic to Councilor Key’s concerns and having a better understanding of where the 
money is coming from. It is important to give the people and residents’ children something 
they can enjoy for years to come. 

  
 Made by Chin, seconded by Messinger. 
  
 MOTION:            TO APPROVE KOMPAN PLAYGROUND EQUIPMENT, CHANGE          

ORDER # 1 - JARBOE PARK IMPROVEMENT PHASE I IN THE 
AMOUNT OF $55,850.78 

  
 Roll Call Vote: 
 Ayes: 4- Messinger, Chin, Jones, and Brown. 

Noes: 1-Key 
  
 MOTION CARRIED 
  
Ghiotto & 
Associates, 
Add’l Costs 

Approval of Ghiotto & Associates-Additional Construction Staking Costs -Jarboe Park 
Improvements Phase I 

 Vice Mayor Jones stated at this point this is a procedural issue that we will run into given 
the way we are doing this project. Looking at this project and the perspective people 
wanted could be a three million dollar job. This is actually a good price given where we are 
with our budget and what we are planning on getting. A park in the City of Jacksonville 
would cost much more. 

  
 Councilor Key stated that the most recent estimate of 2.8 million and has the potential to 

cost that here if we are not careful in the process. 
  
 Mr. Wynn answered Councilor Messinger’s inquiry that the 2.8 million is the estimate from 

Parsons Engineering for Phases 1A, 1B, 1C and Phase 2.  
  
 Mr. Wynn stated for this agenda item there were three quotes for the staking and it is over 

the minimum threshold for his approval. This will require Council approval and a contract. 

Page 11 of 183



 FEBRUARY 16, 2021 SPECIAL COUNCIL MEETING PAGE 6 
 

The price should be a total not to exceed $12,000, which includes $3,682.50, already 
spent, with $8,317.50 remaining. 

  
 Made by Messinger, seconded by Jones. 
  
  
  MOTION:       TO APPROVE GHIOTTO & ASSOCIATES-ADDITIONAL  

CONSTRUCTION STAKING COSTS -JARBOE PARK 
IMPROVEMENTS PHASE I NOT TO EXCEED $12,000 

  
 Roll Call Vote: 
 Ayes: 4- Chin, Messinger, Jones, and Brown. 

Noes:    1-Key 
  
 MOTION CARRIED 
  
Res. No. 2021-
04, Opposing 
Short-term 
Rental 
Legislation 

Resolution No. 2021-04, A Resolution of the City Council of the City of Neptune Beach, 
Florida, Opposing Florida Senate Bill 522 and House Bill 219, Which Would Preempt 
Regulation of Short-Term Rentals to the State; Providing for Conflicts; and Providing for an 
Effective Date 

 Mayor Brown stated Home Rule is important to everyone and we want to send a strong 
message to legislators. 

  
 Councilor Chin pointed out that he sees signs for short-term rentals that meet our minimum 

requirements but only stay one week and being refunded for the rest of the time. He 
wanted to make sure the City could prevent people from finding loopholes around our 
restrictions. 

  
 Made by Messinger, seconded by Chin. 
  
 MOTION:                   TO APPROVE RESOLUTION NO. 2021-04, OPPOSING   FLORIDA 

SENATE BILL 522 AND HOUSE BILL 219, WHICH WOULD 
PREEMPT REGULATION OF SHORT-TERM RENTALS TO THE 
STATE 

  
 Roll Call Vote: 
 Ayes:    5- Key, Messinger, Chin, Jones, and Brown. 

Noes:    0 
  
 MOTION CARRIED 
  
 PUBLIC COMMENT 
  
Public Comment John Holmes, 914 4th Street, Neptune Beach, spoke regarding an update on Bay Street 

parking. He said the newly-constructed fence leaves no room for anyone to walk except on 
the street.  

  
 Chuck McCue, 1908 3rd Street, Neptune Beach, stated he appreciated Councilor Key being 

the voice of reason on expenditures. He questioned the mound of dirt where the children’s 
playground was and suggested using that dirt on the tennis courts. He asked if the asphalt 
would be recycled. He stated the shade sails for the playground areas would last 8 to 10 
years in Florida and noted the shipping fees. He is concerned about the low-bid spending. 
He suggested fixing drainage on Kings Road instead. He questioned the number of 
pickleball courts. He added that the park should be for residents. Mr. McCue remarked that 
he had concerns about the vagueness of the lease at Publix. 

  
  

Page 12 of 183



 FEBRUARY 16, 2021 SPECIAL COUNCIL MEETING PAGE 7 
 

 Scott Wiley, 723 Davis Street, Neptune Beach, stated everyone wants nice playground 
equipment and shade in the park. As former chairman of the Finance Committee, and 
these items were discussed but it was never mentioned that the park was over budget. We 
need to stay close to the budget. He requested receiving bids before deciding to do 
something. 

  
 Pat Hazouri, 207 Florida Boulevard, Neptune Beach, asked where could she see the plans 

for Jarboe Park. She commented that when she saw the plans back in January, there was 
one bridge toward the west that would be for handicapped parking. She asked if another 
bridge has been added. She asked what happened to the Neptune House and was it ever 
repaired. 

  
Adjournment There being no further business, the  Special Meeting adjourned at 7:11 p.m. 
   
   
   
  Elaine Brown, Mayor 
 Attest:   
   
 Catherine Ponson, CMC 

City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
Approved: ________________ 

 

 

Page 13 of 183



 FEBRUARY 16, 2021 WORKSHOP COUNCIL MEETING Page 1 
 
 
 

          
MINUTES  

WORKSHOP CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
IMMEDIATELY FOLLOWING SPECIAL MEETING 

NEPTUNE BEACH CITY HALL 
116 FIRST STREET 

NEPTUNE BEACH, FLORIDA 32266 
TUESDAY, FEBRUARY 16, 2021, 7:18 P.M. 

 
 

Pursuant to proper notice, a Workshop City Council Meeting of the City Council of the 
City of Neptune Beach was held on Tuesday, February 16, 2021, at 7:18 p.m., in Council 
Chambers, City Hall, 116 First Street, Neptune Beach, Florida, 32266 

Attendance 
 
 
 
 
 

IN ATTENDANCE: 
Mayor Elaine Brown(absent) 
Vice Mayor Fred Jones 
Councilor Kerry Chin 
Councilor Lauren Key 
Councilor Josh Messinger 
 
 
 
 

STAFF: 
City Manager Stefen Wynn 
City Attorney Zachary Roth 
Chief of Police Richard Pike 
Chief Financial Officer Carl LaFleur 
Public Works Director Jim French 
Mobility Management Director Megan Steward 
Senior Center Director Leslie Lyne 
Grant and Resiliency Coordinator Colin Moore 
Community Development Director Kristina Wright 
City Clerk Catherine Ponson 
 

Call to Order Vice Mayor Jones called the workshop meeting to order at 7:18 p.m.  
  
 AWARDS / PRESENTATIONS / GUESTS / NONE 
  
 DEPARTMENTAL SCORE CARD 
  
Departmental 
Score Card 

Departmental Score Card. City Manager Stefen Wynn reviewed the Departmental Score 
Card. The Departmental Score Cards are posted on the City website at: 
https://www.ci.neptune-beach.fl.us/city-manager/pages/city-manager-
reportsdepartmental-score-cards 
 

 COMMITTEE REPORTS 
  
Finance Committee Chairman Lauren Key reported there will be a Finance Committee meeting on 

Wednesday, February 24, 2021 at 10:00 a.m. 
  
Land Use & 
Parks 

Committee Chairman Messinger reported his committee would meet in March. 

  
Strategic Planning 
& Visioning/ 
Transportation & 
Public Safety 

Committee Chairman Jones reported both of these committees met before the holidays. 
He added that we are continuing with the Visioning Plan and CIP Projects. 

Page 14 of 183

https://www.ci.neptune-beach.fl.us/city-manager/pages/city-manager-reportsdepartmental-score-cards
https://www.ci.neptune-beach.fl.us/city-manager/pages/city-manager-reportsdepartmental-score-cards


  
 FEBRUARY 16, 2021 WORKSHOP COUNCIL MEETING Page 2 

 
 Mr. Wynn reported that the former Finance, Boards, and Charter Review Committee 

would be split and be its own separate committee.  
  
                                                    PUBLIC COMMENT 
  
Public Comment Chris Townsend, 1327 Trailwood Drive, Neptune Beach, stated he thought the new 

Senior Center being delivered was a job site trailer. He said it does not conform to the 
neighborhood.  

  
 Bob Walker, 1339 Trailwood Drive, Neptune Beach, stated he lives next door to Mr. 

Townsend. He pointed out that he drives by the site numerous times a day. He is 
disappointed at how this has come about. It does not conform or represent what Neptune 
Beach is all about. He added he is objecting to the project. 

  
 Chuck McCue, 1908 3rd Street, Neptune Beach, stated the focus needs to be on 

Neptune Beach seniors. He said it seems like we are doing a lot to attract seniors from 
all over. The same would go for Jarboe Park. He is also concerned about the vagueness 
of the lease for Publix. He asked if there is anything to keep them from subleasing that 
space. He questioned the amount of dirt at Jarboe Park.  

  
 Chris Townsend, 1327 Trailwood Drive,  Neptune Beach, continued by stating he did not 

see an overall price for the project. It is discouraging that the City is spending this much 
money. 

  
 Pat Hazouri, 207 Florida Boulevard, Neptune Beach, requested making sure fence on 

Bay Street does not block the sidewalk. 
  
                                                 PROPOSED ORDINANCES 
  
Proposed Ord. 
2021-Parking 
Penalties 

Proposed Ordinance No. 2021-, An Ordinance of the City of Neptune Beach, Florida, 
Amending Chapter 22 of the Code of Ordinances, Traffic and Motor Vehicles, By 
Amending Section 22-46, Penalties; Providing for Conflicts; Providing for Severability; 
and Providing An Effective Date. 

  
 Mobility Management Director Megan Steward explained that this ordinance deals with 

what happens when we have outstanding unpaid parking tickets. Under this ordinance, 
we are able to send letters to the registered owner of the vehicle and provides an 
appellant procedure. This gives other options rather than to boot and immobilize the 
vehicle.  

  
 Councilor Key stated that this makes sense for the goal of the parking program to be 

friendlier and this will help do that. She added that Ms. Steward is doing a good job. 
  
 Councilor Messinger pointed out that the majority of the parking in the Beaches Town 

Center is privately owned. People are upset when they get towed when this is not the 
City doing this. He commended Ms. Steward for an excellent job. 

  
 Councilor Chin commented that this gives someone who receives a ticket 100 days 

before anything happens. There is a lot of time to correct their issue. He questioned if the 
appeal process is on the ticket. 

  
 Ms. Steward stated the appeals process is through the North Beach Parking website and 

the website address appears on the ticket. 
  
 Vice Mayor Jones commented on how far the City has come with the parking program 

and thanked Ms. Steward. 

Page 15 of 183



  
 FEBRUARY 16, 2021 WORKSHOP COUNCIL MEETING Page 3 

 
 CONSENSUS:                 TO MOVE PROPOSED ORDINANCE NO. 2021,  PARKING 

PENALTIES TO FIRST READ ON MARCH 1, 2021. 
  
 CONTRACTS / AGREEMENTS / NONE 
  
 ISSUE DEVELOPMENT 
  
Senior Center 
Timeline to 
Completion 

Senior Center Timeline to Completion. 

 Mr. Wynn reported that he has taken this project and will see it to completion. Seeing this 
through is paramount to making sure the neighbors are happy with the final project. He 
assured everyone that the City is not done. The building is still being buttoned together.  

  
 Mr. Wynn presented a history of how we got where we are today and what the path 

forward will be. He is proposing that his recommendation is that final completion of the 
Senior Center be completed as a design-build proposal submitted to a landscape 
architect or engineering firm with a subcontractor that can do the work with a maximum 
not to exceed price. The things that need to be considered in the design-build RFP would 
be not only design, architectural, engineering, but also the porch or hip roof, the parking 
lot, stormwater landscaping, HVAC, moving or screening it, as well as the buffering 
requirements that are required by our own Code. 

  
 There was a variance for that building to be there but that does not preclude the City 

from following its own LDC and Comprehensive Plan. The RFP will include  permitting 
with appropriate authorities. The final piece will be construction of the porch, 
landscaping, buffering, screening and curbing, electrical, fine grading, ingress/egress 
with  ADA considerations and parking lot requirements. 

  
 Mr. Wynn continued with the timeline which includes publishing the RFP on March 3, 

2021 and a completion date of August 26, 2021. 
  
 Councilor Chin stated there a lot of comments out there and disappointment that the 

modular units look like old trailers. He knows there is work to be finished. He asked Mr. 
Wynn how confident is he that the City can complete something like what has been 
presented in the picture. 

  
 Mr. Wynn answered that he is pretty confident. He had not been out here this week and 

there were a number of items to be done. He has not completed a punch list yet, but that 
is coming. He pointed out that the area is in a flood zone and if we are talking resiliency, 
having something off of the ground would allow for water to go a little bit better. We could 
put in flood vents but this would be a significantly different cost and longer timeline. 

  
 Councilor Chin pointed out that he saw the possibility of a grant that would be able to 

move the HVAC units and install ultraviolet germicidal irradiation. 
  
 Mr. Wynn stated Mr. Moore have reached out to the CDBG office in Jacksonville and the 

City is still looking at that. 
  
 Councilor Messinger commented that this has exposed a larger issue. He stated there 

were a lot of deficiencies from a professional services standpoint. His committee is going 
to be looking at how the City does capital projects throughout the City. The concerns he 
raised back in September on this project still stand. This is a residential area. We are 
talking design-build and our standards have not been followed. What we demand of our 
residents and commercial businesses has not been followed. Even if it was followed , our 
minimum standards for commercial are not sufficient for that area. 

Page 16 of 183



  
 FEBRUARY 16, 2021 WORKSHOP COUNCIL MEETING Page 4 

 
 How we screen and design the landscaping is very important to quality of life in that area. 

We need to make sure as we go through the design-build process to make sure it is 
thoughtfully laid out. 

  
 Councilor Key asked if we had any idea how much it would cost to look like it appears in 

the picture presented. 
  
 Mr. Wynn explained we would set a not-to-exceed price that would go out with the RFP. 

He does not recommend including the entire amount of donations in case change orders 
or things come up. He thought $150,000 would be pretty good. Mr. Wynn clarified that 
the intent back in September was that whatever was in excess for donations would 
replenish the Better Jax Funds. 

  
 Councilor Key pointed out that this is an important time to look at our processes and 

procedures. We need to make sure this does not happen again. This is going to cost 
more money. Senior Center Director Leslie Lyne has done a wonderful job fundraising 
that we have the funds. At that time, when this was approved, a pledge was made of 
$100,000 to replenish the Better Jax Funds and now that can’t happen as there is so 
much work to be done. 

  
 Ms. Lyne stated that she did not know where the idea came from that money from 

donations, grants and that sort of thing would go back into the Better Jax Funds. She has 
read the minutes and the motion was to approve funding for the Senior Activity Center in 
the amount of $400,000. It was approved unanimously. There was never any discussion 
about any of the money that was raised to be put back into the coffers. That money 
would be used for the Center.  

  
 Mr. Wynn pointed out that his recommendation is for a design-build and that is how he 

would like to see the project to completion. We have witnessed this deficiency and he is 
attempting to address that with policy changes, namely, the procurement policy. 

  
 Councilor Messinger commented that this goes back to his concern in September. He 

would be interested to see what we can do with the design-build. His concern is here is  
a pot of money and how are we going to best execute on that. Give us those options to 
know as a body so we can work with the neighbors to figure out what would be the best 
outcome for that residential area. He added that maybe the minutes don’t reflect the 
conversation but the audio clearly shows that when they approved it, the comment was 
that the $100,000 would go back into the half-cent gas tax. This needs to be well thought 
out and properly planned. 

  
 Councilor Key stated that she and Ms. Lyne had emails back and forth. She stated to Ms. 

Lyne when she came up and said that she never intended to take any of that money and 
put it back towards the Senior Center is unfair. At minute 1:31 on the September 8, 2020, 
Council meeting, which Council was approving this, her exact words were, “ I will not quit 
until I have $100,000 is raised, which can then be placed back into your half-cent gas 
tax.” 

 Vice Mayor Jones stated we have to clearly remedy this situation for the residents of the 
area. He added that no sort of screening to cover air conditioners is going to be suitable. 

  
 Mr. Wynn stated that there is a Council meeting before the RFP would be published. He 

could present it as part of his City Manager’s report. 
  
 CONSENSUS:     TO AUTHORIZE THE CITY MANAGER TO ISSUE AN RFP FOR  

COMPLETION OF THE NEPTUNE BEACH SENIOR CENTER 
WITH A NOT-TO-EXCEED PRICE OF $150,000 

Page 17 of 183



  
 FEBRUARY 16, 2021 WORKSHOP COUNCIL MEETING Page 5 

 
 PUBLIC COMMENT 
  
 Bob Walker, 1339 Trailwood Drive, Neptune Beach, stated if he had bought the modular 

home or trailer, he would never have gotten a building permit. You could build a really 
nice structure for $400,000, and this is unacceptable 

  
 COUNCIL COMMENTS / NONE 
  
Adjournment There being no further business, the workshop meeting adjourned at 8:13 p.m. 
  

 
_____________________ 

                                                                          Elaine Brown, Mayor 
 ATTEST: 

 
 
 
 

 

 ______________________________ 
 Catherine Ponson, CMC 

City Clerk 
 

 
 
Approved: _________________  

 

Page 18 of 183



CITY OF NEPTUNE BEACH
CITY COUNCIL MEETING

STAFF REPORT

AGENDA ITEM: Second of Two Public Hearings—Development Agreement between City of 
Neptune Beach and Neptune Beach, FL Realty LLC, for the property known 
as 540-580 Atlantic Boulevard (RE#172395-0130)

SUBMITTED BY: Neptune Beach, FL Realty LLC

DATE: February 24, 2021

BACKGROUND: This is the second of two required public hearings pursuant to Florida 
Statutes Section 163.3225, for a Development Agreement between the City 
of Neptune Beach and Neptune Beach, FL Realty LLC, for property known  
540-580 Atlantic Blvd. (RE#172395-0130), Neptune Beach, Florida

BUDGET: N/A

RECOMMENDATION: Consider the attached Development Agreement at the Second Public 
Hearing on March, 2021

ATTACHMENT: 1. Development Agreement - Neptune Beach FL Realty LLC - 02.08.21

Page 19 of 183

Item #7A
Development 
Agreement



{BBA Firm Docs/2026/190272/00931397.DOCX:5 }

DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 

THIS DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) is made and entered into as of 
the ____ day of ___________, 2021 by and between the CITY OF NEPTUNE BEACH, 
FLORIDA, a municipal corporation of the State of Florida (the “City”) and NEPTUNE BEACH, 
FL REALTY LLC, a Florida limited liability company (together with its successors and assigns 
“Developer”). 

RECITALS: 

WHEREAS, Developer is the owner and holds fee simple legal title to that certain real 
property located in the City, legally described in Exhibit A (the “Property”); and 

WHEREAS, the Property has a Comprehensive Plan future land use designation of 
Commercial High and is zoned Commercial C-3; and the zoning, land use, and locational 
characteristics of the Property support commercial development; and 

WHEREAS, the Property was developed in accordance with the City’s Unified Land 
Development Code (the “LDC”) on or about 1977 and is currently developed as a shopping center 
with approximately 55,652 square feet of commercial uses, including a 29,810 square foot grocery 
store, which was originally constructed as an A&P grocery store and was most recently leased and 
occupied by Lucky’s Market; and  

WHEREAS, Lucky’s Market Operating Company, LLC (“Lucky’s Market”) has declared 
bankruptcy and closed the grocery store on the Property, and through the oversight of the 
bankruptcy court plans to assign its lease to Publix Super Markets, Inc. (“Publix”) subject to the 
City’s approval of Publix’s occupancy of the grocery store; and 

WHEREAS, the City has advised that, in order to issue approval of Publix’s occupancy 
of the grocery store, a variance approval is necessary, and the Developer has filed and is pursuing 
approval of Variance Application V20-01 (the “Variance), and the Community Development 
Board has recommended approval of the Variance; and 

This instrument prepared by and return to: 

Jacob T. Cremer, Esq. 
Stearns Weaver Miller Weissler 
 Alhadeff & Sitterson, P.A. 
PO Box 3299 
Tampa, FL 33601 

Page 20 of 183



{BBA Firm Docs/2026/190272/00931397.DOCX:5 } 2 
 

WHEREAS, Developer plans to redevelop and improve the existing shopping center and 
the grocery store in order to meet the needs of Publix and existing market conditions (the 
“Project”), and in order to service the redeveloped shopping center and facilitate the City’s 
approval of Publix’s occupancy of the grocery store, the Developer will construct certain 
placemaking improvements (the “Improvements”); and 

WHEREAS, the City has determined that the existing development and the Project, if the 
Variance is approved, are consistent with the City’s Comprehensive Plan, conforms to the 
standards of the LDC to the public including but not limited to additional retail opportunities, more 
efficient and safer vehicular and pedestrian circulation, and more pleasing design aesthetics; and 

WHEREAS, in accordance with Section 163.3220, Florida Statutes, et. seq., the City is 
authorized to enter into a development agreement; and the City has reviewed and analyzed all 
information supplied by the Developer regarding this Agreement and acknowledges that the 
information supplied by the Developer is adequate and appropriate to support the approvals and 
relief herein; and 

WHEREAS, at the conclusion of two noticed public hearings, the City approved this 
Agreement and authorized the Mayor and/or City Manager of the City to execute it on behalf of 
the City; and  

NOW, THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the mutual promises and covenants 
contained herein and other good and valuable considerations, the receipt and sufficiency of which 
are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereby agree as follows: 

Section 1. Recitals. The recitals set forth above are true and correct and are 
incorporated herein by this reference. 
 

Section 2. Description of Project and Proposed Uses: 
 

A. Existing Uses: The Property was developed in or about 1977 and is 
currently developed as a shopping center with approximately 55,652 square feet of commercial 
uses, including a 29,810 square foot grocery store, which was originally constructed as an A&P 
grocery store. After a renovation of the Property façade and stores in 2016, the 29,810 square foot 
store was most recently leased and occupied by Lucky’s Market. 
 

B. Proposed Uses: 
 

1. Shopping Center: The Property will continue to be developed as a 
shopping center, including to date approximately 55,652 square feet of existing commercial uses, 
including an approximately 29,810 square foot existing grocery store (with permitted accessory 
uses including a café use within the grocery store), which will be leased, renovated, and occupied 
by Publix upon approval of the Variance (it being understood for clarity that the Patio, as hereafter 
defined, is not included in the above square footage calculation). The parties agree that 
development other than that related to the Project and the Improvements shall be separately 
permitted in accordance with Section 7 of this Agreement. This Agreement does not prevent (but 
also does not authorize) the shopping center and grocery store from being expanded or contracted 

Page 21 of 183



{BBA Firm Docs/2026/190272/00931397.DOCX:5 } 3 
 

in size, subject to review in accordance with the Variance and the LDC in accordance with Section 
7 of this Agreement; in such case, the parties agree to cooperate to amend this Development 
Agreement as appropriate based upon the results of any review in accordance with the Variance 
and the LDC. 

 
2. Café Use: An accessory café use is permitted to be contained within 

the grocery store and may be extended outside to the Patio if approved by special exception. The 
accessory café use permits the on-premises consumption of beer and wine as permitted under 
Section 4-9 of the LDC, subject to approval by all state agencies.  

 
3. Variance: If approved by the City, the Variance shall be governed 

by the LDC as it exists at the time of approval, including but not limited to Section 27-149. The 
parties agree that the Variance is a development order subject to the provisions of Section 252.363, 
Florida Statutes. The City agrees that the Variance will not expire “by earlier council action” as 
long as Developer is in substantial compliance with this Agreement and that “actual construction” 
means any material physical work on the Property in furtherance of the Project. Until such time as 
the Variance runs with the land, the City agrees that the Variance shall be transferred automatically 
to any successor in title to the Property, as long as Developer is not in breach of this Agreement at 
the time of transfer of title to the Property (and if the Developer is in breach, then the variance 
shall be transferred at the earlier of the consent of City Council or when the default is cured). 
Developer may request certifications related to the Variance in accordance with Section 22 of this 
Agreement. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, the Variance shall be limited to Publix’s (or 
any Publix affiliate’s) occupancy and shall not inure to the benefit of any other tenant except by 
merger or acquisition. 
 

Section 3. Public Facilities to Service Development. The following public facilities 
are presently available to the Project and Property from the sources indicated below. Development 
will be governed by the concurrency ordinance provisions applicable at the time of development 
approval.  

 
A. Water. The City will provide potable water. 

 
B. Sanitary Sewer. The City will provide sanitary sewer service. Water and 

sanitary sewer upgrades and improvements are the responsibility of Developer. 
 
C. Stormwater Management. Stormwater management and drainage 

facilities will be provided by the Developer. There will be no increase in impervious surface and, 
as a result, no change in stormwater management shall be required. 
 

D. Law Enforcement, Fire Protection, and Emergency Medical Service. 
Law enforcement will be provided by the City. Fire protection and emergency medical services 
will be provided by the City of Jacksonville. 
 

E. Solid Waste/Recycling. Solid waste and recycling collection services will 
be provided by the City. 

 

Page 22 of 183



{BBA Firm Docs/2026/190272/00931397.DOCX:5 } 4 
 

F. Recreation/Open Space. All public recreation/open space facilities will be 
provided by the City. 
 

G. Transportation/Mass Transit. The public roads and mass transit facilities 
serving the Project have been determined to meet the adopted level of service both before and after 
the traffic impacts of the Project are considered. 
 

Section 4. Agreements of the Developer. Upon approval of the Agreement and 
satisfaction of the Conditions Precedent, as hereafter defined, Developer shall perform the 
following: 
 

A. Improvements. Developer shall construct and maintain the following 
Improvements as described in Exhibit B and further depicted in Exhibit C (the “Improvements”). 
No deviation from Exhibits B or C shall be permitted except by amendment to this Agreement 
recorded in the public records of Duval County, Florida; however, the City Manager may approve 
minor deviations that, in his sole judgment and discretion, are not material and that do not relate 
to landscaping. All improvements must be maintained in a commercially reasonable manner and 
to reasonably minimize any costs on the City. 
 

B. Assurance of Completion of Improvements.  
 

1. Escrow Funds to Ensure Completion of Improvements. The 
parties acknowledge and agree that the City will be harmed if Developer does not complete the 
Improvements within a timely manner. Prior to the execution of this Agreement by the Mayor 
and/or City Manager of the City, Developer shall provide to the City $1,365,000.00 in funds to be 
escrowed in an account maintained by the City Attorney’s law firm, Ansbacher Law (“Escrow 
Funds”). Once Developer completes the Improvements, as evidenced by a notice of substantial 
completion by the Engineer of Record and confirmation by the City Manager, such confirmation 
not to be unreasonably withheld, any remaining Escrow Funds shall be returned to Developer 
within 7 days. 

  
2. Binding Dates. Developer warrants that construction of the 

Improvements will begin and be completed in accordance with the milestone dates identified in 
the schedule attached as Exhibit D (“Binding Dates”). The Binding Dates are subject to and shall 
be extended by: (i) delays due to Force Majeure, which events shall have an adverse effect on the 
Project and shall mean acts of God (including earthquakes, hurricanes, tornadoes and floods, 
epidemics and pandemics); war, terrorism or the threat thereof, insurrection, civil commotion, 
riots; strikes, lockouts, embargoes; fire; and any other similar occurrence, event or condition 
beyond the reasonable control of Developer; (ii) for the City’s delays in issuing permits for 
construction to occur that are not subject to Developer’s control; and (iii) for a purchase of 
extension, as described below in Section 4.B.3. If any Binding Date is extended, that Binding Date 
and any subsequent Binding Dates shall be automatically extended, and such new dates shall 
become the new Binding Dates. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement or at 
law, Developer agrees that this Agreement and the Binding Dates are not subject to a right of 
extension pursuant to Section 252.363, Florida Statutes, because a development agreement is not 
a permit or other authorization as defined by Section 252.363(1)(a), Florida Statutes. Developer 

Page 23 of 183



{BBA Firm Docs/2026/190272/00931397.DOCX:5 } 5 
 

agrees that it shall not file or send a notification as described in Section 252.363(1)(b), Florida 
Statutes regarding any extension of any Binding Date or other deadline under this Agreement, and 
that any such notification shall constitute a breach of this Agreement. In the event of such breach, 
in addition to any other remedy the City may have under this Agreement, the City may place a 
stop work order on the construction of the Improvements until the Developer withdraws such 
notification, and upon a finding by majority vote of City Council that such breach occurred, the 
Escrow Funds shall be paid to the City as liquidated damages. This agreement regarding Section 
252.363, Florida Statutes, is material consideration for the City’s approval of this Agreement. 
 

3. Purchase of Extensions of Binding Dates. If any of the Binding 
Dates are not met, Developer shall be required to purchase an extension of the Binding Date in 30-
day increments. Binding Dates may be extended by purchased extension for a maximum of two 
years. The cost of the 30-day extensions shall escalate as follows: first 30 days: $15,000; second 
30 days: $30,000; third and each subsequent 30 days: $60,000. Payment shall be due in full, and 
may be withdrawn by the City from the Escrow Funds without further authorization from 
Developer, on the first day of the extension period. The City shall proceed against the Escrow 
Funds as liquidated damages in full satisfaction of damages owed by Developer. The City may use 
default as a remedy in addition to damages only after the depletion of the Escrow Funds, and 
pursuant to Sections 13 and 14 of this Agreement. The parties agree and acknowledge that (i) these 
damages constitute liquidated damages and not penalties, (ii) the amount of loss or damages likely 
to be incurred is incapable or is difficult to precisely estimate, (iii) the damages specified bear a 
reasonable relationship to, and are not plainly or grossly disproportionate to the damages that may 
be borne by the City, (iv) one of the reasons parties reaching an agreement as to such amounts was 
the uncertainty and cost of litigation regarding the question of actual damages, and (v) the parties 
are sophisticated business parties that have been represented by sophisticated and able legal 
counsel and negotiated this Agreement at arm’s length. 

 
4. Escrow Terms. Developer acknowledges and agrees to hold 

Ansbacher Law, P.A. free and harmless from any claim and/or liability including court cost and 
attorney's fees, that may result from the holding and/or releasing of or otherwise related to the 
Escrow Funds except for the negligence or willful misconduct of Ansbacher Law, P.A. Developer 
further agrees, if for any reason any type of dispute should occur regarding these matters, 
Ansbacher Law, P.A. is hereby authorized and directed to deposit all monies being held with the 
office of the Clerk of the Circuit Court of Duval County, Florida. Once all monies are deposited 
in the office of the Clerk of the Circuit Court of Duval County, Florida, Ansbacher Law, P.A. shall 
be released from any and all liability in the dispute. 
 

5. Good Faith Coordination Meetings. In order to facilitate good 
faith coordination between the parties and in acknowledgement that both parties intend that the 
Improvements shall be completed in accordance with the Binding Dates and as described in 
Exhibit B and further depicted in Exhibit C, the parties shall hold regular coordination meetings 
(“Coordination Meetings”). Coordination Meetings shall be attended by the City Manager (who 
may choose to include City staff, the City Attorney, and an elected official if appropriate) and 
Developer’s team, which shall consist of a representative of the Developer, the Developer’s 
architect, and the Developer’s engineer. The parties agree to the schedule of Coordination meetings 
enclosed as Exhibit E. In no event, excepting Force Majeure as defined in Section 4.B.2 above, 

Page 24 of 183



{BBA Firm Docs/2026/190272/00931397.DOCX:5 } 6 
 

shall the Coordination Meetings be delayed without the consent of both parties in writing to a date 
and time certain. Developer shall have the option to accelerate the Coordination Meetings at a 
mutually agreeable date and time. Coordination Meetings may occur virtually, telephonically, or 
physically. 
 

6. Conduct of Coordination Meetings. The purpose of the 
Coordination Meetings is to ensure regular communication and confirm that the design and 
specifications of the project, as developed, are consistent with this Agreement including its 
Exhibits. On the business day before each Coordination Meeting, Developer shall provide the City 
Manager with a written agenda. On the business day after each Coordination Meeting, Developer 
shall provide the City Manager with written minutes, which shall constitute the official record of 
each Coordination Meeting unless the City Manager responds by the following business day with 
any corrections to the written minutes. At each meeting, Developer will present the items to be 
reviewed as indicated on Exhibit E and in the agenda. If in the reasonable judgement of the City 
Manager, the information, plans, and specifications presented materially deviates from this 
Agreement or its Exhibits, the City Manager shall provide written objections within 9 business 
days of the Coordination Meeting. Within 10 business days of receipt of such objections, 
Developer will revise information, plans, and specifications to incorporate City Manager 
comments or provide necessary clarification to resolve objections in the reasonable judgement of 
City Manager. If Developer and City Manager cannot resolve objection, Developer shall have the 
option to place the issue on the next scheduled regular or special City Council meeting which can 
be properly noticed in order for City Council to resolve the issue, which may include directing 
amendment of this Agreement in accordance with statutory notice requirements. City Council’s 
resolution of any disputes in this regard shall be final. Once construction plans have been approved 
by the City or the appropriate Authority Having Jurisdiction, the approved plans shall replace the 
corresponding Exhibits of this Agreement as the governing documents for the Improvements. Such 
plans shall remain on file at the City and are not required to be recorded. 
 

Section 5. Agreements of the City. The City agrees to the following conditions or 
actions to implement this Agreement: 
 

A. Project Concurrency Vesting. Because the Project consists of the 
redevelopment of an existing shopping center without an increase in square footage, the Project is 
vested against any concurrency obligations. Future changes in use not contemplated in this 
Agreement beyond the scope of the Project may require concurrency review. 
 

B. Impact Fee Credits - Prior Use. The Developer shall be entitled to credits 
or offsets associated with the prior square footage demolished and redeveloped against any impact 
fees owed for the newly constructed improvements, including but not limited to fees for 
transportation, water, and sanitary sewer. 

 
C. Publix Outdoor Dining Area. In connection with the Proposed Use, the 

City acknowledges that Developer intends to grant to Publix exclusive use of that certain outdoor 
seating and dining area contiguous to the grocery store, if approved by the City, as conceptually 
depicted on Exhibit F attached hereto and made a part hereof (the “Patio”), for on-premises 

Page 25 of 183



{BBA Firm Docs/2026/190272/00931397.DOCX:5 } 7 
 

consumption of food and beverages, including beer and wine. The City hereby acknowledges this 
intended use and will require separate review and approval of a special exception application. 

Section 6. Permits Required. The development permits that have been approved or 
may be needed to be approved for the redevelopment of the Property include: 

 
A. City site and construction plan approvals;  

 
B. Plat or subdivision approvals, including infrastructure construction plan 

approval;  
 

C. City Right-of-Way use permit;  
 

D. City building permits and sign permits;  
 

E. FDOT permits, as applicable; 
 
F. All applicable approvals for opening and operating a café and for on-

premises consumption of beer and wine; and 
 
G. Other City, County, State or Federal permits, as may be required by law. 

 
Section 7. Applicable City Ordinances and Codes. In accordance with Section 

163.3233, Florida Statutes, all City Codes, policies, charter provisions, and ordinances governing 
the development of the Project and Improvements upon the date of execution of this Agreement 
shall continue to govern the development of the Project until the expiration of this Agreement, 
including relevant provisions of the City's Comprehensive Plan and height restrictions outlined in 
the City’s Charter, for 20 years, with the opportunity for extensions. Notwithstanding anything in 
this Agreement, the Property may at any time be redeveloped in accordance with the then-existing 
Comprehensive Plan and LDC provisions subject to the City’s standard approval process.  

 
Section 8. Effect of Development Agreement. The failure of this Agreement to 

address a particular permit, condition, term or restriction shall not relieve the Developer of the 
necessity of complying with the law governing said permitting requirements, conditions, terms or 
restrictions. 
 

Section 9. Disclaimer of Joint Venture. Developer and City represent that by the 
execution of this Agreement it is not the intent of the parties that this Agreement be construed or 
deemed to represent a joint venture or common undertaking between City and Developer, or 
between either and any third party. While engaged in carrying out and complying with the terms 
of this Agreement, Developer is an independent principal and not a contractor for or an officer or 
employee of City. Developer shall not at any time or in any manner represent that it or any of its 
agents or employees are employees of City. 
 

Section 10. Successors in Interest. The burdens of this Agreement shall be binding 
upon, and the benefits of this Agreement shall inure to, all successors in interest to the parties to 
this Agreement. Developer, in its sole discretion, shall have the right to make a conveyance or and 

Page 26 of 183



{BBA Firm Docs/2026/190272/00931397.DOCX:5 } 8 
 

assignment of its interest in the Property to a successor, in which all rights and obligations of the 
Developer hereunder shall be assigned to and assumed by the successor, and Developer shall 
thereafter have no further obligations under this Agreement. This Agreement shall constitute a 
covenant running with the land for the duration hereof and shall be binding upon Developer and 
upon all persons deriving title by, through or under said Developer and upon its assigns and 
successors in title. The agreements contained herein shall benefit and limit all present and future 
developers of the Project and the City for the term hereof. The covenants and restrictions required 
herein shall be of the duration expressed herein. 
 

Section 11. Amendments. The parties acknowledge that this Agreement may only be 
amended by mutual consent of the parties subsequent to execution (or their successors in interest), 
in accordance with Section 163.3237, Florida Statutes. All amendments to this Agreement shall 
be ineffective unless reduced to writing and executed by City and Developer, in accordance with 
the Code. If subsequent modifications to this Agreement are necessary to achieve the ultimate 
Project development, the City agrees not to require any additional commitments of land, money, 
or other exactions, or to impose any additional conditions of development approval, as long as the 
Project development is in conformance with this Agreement, except that the City may require the 
Developer to pay all costs incurred in complying with legal requirements pertaining to the adoption 
of any such modification. 
 

Section 12. Recording of this Agreement. The City Clerk shall, no later than fourteen 
(14) days after this Agreement is entered into by the City as described below, cause this Agreement 
to be recorded with the Clerk of the Circuit Court for Duval County. The Developer shall bear the 
expense of recording this Agreement. 
 

Section 13. Notices. All notices, demands, requests for approvals or other 
communications given by either party to another shall be in writing and shall be sent by registered 
or certified mail, postage prepaid, return receipt requested, by a recognized national overnight 
courier service, or by email transmission to the office for each party indicated below. Properly 
addressed, postage prepaid, notices or communications shall be deemed delivered and received on 
the day of hand delivery, the next business day after deposit with an overnight courier service for 
next day delivery, on the third day following deposit in the United States mail, certified mail, return 
receipt requested, or on the day of email transmission. The parties may change the addresses set 
forth below (including the addition of a mortgagee to receive copies of all notices), by notice in 
accordance with this Section. 
 
To the City:  City of Neptune Beach, City Manager 
   Stefan Wynn 

116 First Street 
   Neptune Beach, FL 32266-6140 
   Email: cm@nbfl.us 

With a copy to: City of Neptune Beach, City Attorney 
   Zachary Roth, Esq. 
   8818 Goodbys Executive Drive 

Jacksonville, FL 32217 
   Email: Zachary.Roth@ansbacher.net 

Page 27 of 183

mailto:Zachary.Roth@ansbacher.net


{BBA Firm Docs/2026/190272/00931397.DOCX:5 } 9 
 

To the Developer: Neptune Beach, FL Realty, LLC 
TLM Realty Corp. 
Attn: Ronald Oehl 
Attn: Andrew Greene 
295 Madison Ave, 37th Floor 
New York, NY 10017 
Email: Roehl@tlmltd.com 
Email: agreene@tlmltd.com 

With a copy to: Jacob T. Cremer, Esq. 
Stearns Weaver Miller Weissler Alhadeff & Sitterson, P.A. 
401 East Jackson Street, Suite 2100 
Tampa, FL 33602 
Email: jcremer@stearnsweaver.com 

Section 14. Default. In the event either party is in default of any provision hereof, the 
non-defaulting party, as a condition precedent to the exercise of its remedies, shall be required to 
give the defaulting party written notice of the same pursuant to this Agreement. The defaulting 
party shall have thirty (30) business days from the receipt of such notice to cure the default or 
commence to cure if longer than thirty (30) business days is reasonably required to cure such 
default. If the defaulting party timely cures the default, the default shall be deemed waived and 
this Agreement shall continue in full force and effect. If the defaulting party does not timely cure 
or commence to cure such default, the non-defaulting party shall be entitled to pursue its remedies 
available at law or equity once pre-suit mediation is completed. In any suit under this Agreement, 
the prevailing party shall be entitled to attorney’s fees and costs, including without limitation the 
fees and costs related to pre-suit mediation and any appeals. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if 
Developer defaults under this Agreement, the City hereby acknowledges and agrees that the 
approved Variance will not be affected by such default except as expressly otherwise provided in 
Section 2.B.3 of this Agreement. The parties agree that specific performance is an available 
remedy for breach of this Agreement; if the City requests such remedy and a court declines to 
enforce it for any reason, then the parties agree that the City is authorized to enter upon the Property 
to complete the Improvements. Invoices for the costs of such completion work shall be presented 
to Developer on a monthly basis. If Developer does not pay such invoices in full within 30 days 
after presentation, then the City may record a lien in the public records against the Property for the 
amount not paid. In the event of any award for attorneys’ fees and costs to the City, such lien may 
include such amounts. 
 

Section 15. Pre-Suit Mediation. Before filing suit in any way related to this 
Agreement, the parties shall submit any dispute to non-binding pre-suit mediation. Time is of the 
essence in this Section, and the parties shall use their best efforts to mediate in an expeditious 
fashion, including through consideration of telephonic or electronic mediation. Once a dispute has 
been mediated and cured once, if that dispute or a similar issue arises again, the parties may, but 
are not required to, submit such dispute to non-binding pre-suit mediation. 
 

Section 16. Non-Action on Failure to Observe Provisions of this Agreement. The 
failure of the parties to promptly or continually insist upon strict performance of any term, 
covenant, condition or provision of this Agreement or any other agreement, instrument or 

Page 28 of 183

mailto:Roehl@tlmltd.com
mailto:agreene@tlmltd.com


{BBA Firm Docs/2026/190272/00931397.DOCX:5 } 10 
 

document of whatever form or nature contemplated hereby shall not be deemed a waiver of any 
right or remedy that the parties may have, and shall not be deemed a waiver of a subsequent default 
or nonperformance of such term, covenant, condition or provision. 
 

Section 17. Applicable Law and Construction. The laws of the State of Florida shall 
govern the validity, performance and enforcement of this Agreement, without regard for conflict 
of laws principles. This Agreement has been negotiated by the City and the Developer, and the 
Agreement shall not be deemed to have been prepared by the City or the Developer, but by all 
equally. 
 

Section 18. Venue; Submission to Jurisdiction. For purposes of any suit, action, or 
other proceeding arising out of or relating to this Agreement, the parties hereto do acknowledge, 
consent, and agree that venue thereof is Duval County, Florida. Each party to this Agreement 
hereby submits to the jurisdiction of the State of Florida, Duval County, and the courts thereof for 
the purposes of any suit, action, or other proceeding arising out of or relating to this Agreement. 
 

Section 19. Entire Agreement. This Agreement, and all the terms and provisions 
contained herein, including without limitation the Exhibits hereto, constitute the full and complete 
agreement between the parties hereto to the date hereof, and supersedes and controls over any and 
all prior agreements, understanding, representations, correspondence and statements whether 
written or oral. Any provisions of this Agreement shall be read and applied in pari materia with 
all other provisions hereof. 
 

Section 20. Holidays. Whenever a notice or performance under the terms of this 
Agreement is to be made or given on a Saturday or Sunday or on a legal holiday observed in the 
City, it shall be postponed to the next following business day. 
 

Section 21. Exhibits. Each Exhibit referred to and attached to this Agreement is an 
essential part of this Agreement. 
 

Section 22. Certification. The Developer and the City shall at any time and from time 
to time, upon not less than ten (10) days prior notice by the other party execute, acknowledge and 
deliver to the other party a statement in recordable form certifying that this Agreement has not 
been modified and is in full force and effect (or if terminated, stating such), and that to the 
knowledge of such party, neither it nor the other party is then in default hereof (or if the other party 
is then in default hereof, stating the nature and details of such default), it being intended that any 
such statement delivered pursuant to this Paragraph may be conclusively relied upon by any 
prospective purchaser, tenant, mortgagee, successor, assignee of any mortgage or assignee of the 
respective interest in the Project, if any, of any party made in accordance with the provisions of 
this Agreement. By way of example and not of limitation, once the Improvements have been fully 
permitted, constructed, and approved by the City, the Developer may request a certification stating 
that the Developer’s obligations under this Agreement are substantially complete. 
 

Section 23. Survival of Warranties and Representations. The warranties, 
representations, covenants and obligations of the parties hereto shall be binding upon the parties 
and their respective successors in interest. 

Page 29 of 183



{BBA Firm Docs/2026/190272/00931397.DOCX:5 } 11 
 

 
Section 24. Termination. This Agreement shall automatically terminate and expire 

upon the occurrence of any of: (i) the full performance by all parties and the expiration of this 
Agreement as described in Section 7; (ii) the revocation of this Agreement in accordance with 
Section 163.3235, Florida Statutes; or (iii) execution of a written termination by all parties to this 
Agreement. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, all development orders 
approved concurrently with or prior to this Agreement run with the land and shall survive 
termination. Notwithstanding the foregoing or any provision herein, the City hereby acknowledges 
and agrees that the approved Variance will not be affected by any termination of this Agreement. 
 

Section 25. Minor Non-Compliance. Developer will not be deemed to have failed to 
comply with the terms of this Agreement in the event such non-compliance, in the reasonable 
judgment of the City Manager of the City, is deemed of a minor or inconsequential nature. 
 

Section 26. Covenant of Cooperation. The parties shall cooperate with and deal with 
each other in good faith and assist each other in the performance of the provisions of this 
Agreement and in achieving the completion of development of the Property and completion of the 
Project, including in processing future development approvals and amendments to this Agreement, 
and including Developer requests for extensions of this Agreement. Whenever an approval or 
consent is required under or contemplated by this Agreement, such approval or consent shall not 
be unreasonably withheld, delayed or conditioned. All such approvals and consents shall be 
requested and granted in writing. Notwithstanding, no covenant of cooperation in this Agreement 
shall be deemed to bind the City in approval of the Variance. 
 

Section 27. Partial Invalidity. If any term or provision of this Agreement or the 
application thereof to any person or circumstance is declared invalid or unenforceable, the 
remainder of this Agreement, including any valid portion of the invalid term or provision and the 
application of such invalid term or provision to circumstances other than those as to which it is 
held invalid or unenforceable by a court of competent jurisdiction, shall not be affected thereby 
and shall with the remainder of this Agreement continue unmodified and in full force and effect. 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, if such responsibilities of any party thereto to the extent that the 
purpose of this Agreement or the benefits sought to be received hereunder are frustrated, such 
party shall have the right to terminate this Agreement upon fifteen (15) days notice to the other 
parties. 
 

Section 28. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of 
which an original but all of which shall constitute a single instrument. 

 
Section 29. Conditions Precedent. This Agreement shall be of no effect unless and 

until the following conditions precedent (the “Conditions Precedent”) occur: (i) the City approves 
the Variance; (ii) the Assignment and Assumption of Lease is executed by Lucky’s Market and 
Publix;; and (iii) any periods for review or challenge of the Variance expire without action or all 
actions challenging the Variance are fully resolved such that the Variance is upheld as approved 
by the City and all appeals periods for such actions have expired. Notwithstanding, approval of 
the Variance shall not obligate the City to approve this Agreement. The City shall not be deemed 

Page 30 of 183



{BBA Firm Docs/2026/190272/00931397.DOCX:5 } 12 
 

to have entered into this Agreement as provided in Fla. Stat. §163.3239 until each of the Conditions 
Precedent is satisfied. 

 
Section 30. Duty to Defend. Upon reasonable notice, Developer shall defend, to the 

fullest extent permitted by law, any action, claim, proceeding, or any other assertion against the 
City, its principals, agents, consultants, officers, elected officials, employees and other affiliated 
persons (“Covered Parties”) arising from this Agreement or the Variance, by and through attorneys 
and other professionals at commercially reasonable rates selected by the City and reasonably 
satisfactory to the Developer. This duty to defend is separate and independent of any indemnity 
provided below. The duty to defend includes claims for which any of the Covered Parties may be 
liable without fault or may be strictly liable. Such duty to defend applies immediately, regardless 
of whether any of the Covered Parties have paid any sums or incurred any detriment arising out of 
or relating, directly or indirectly, to any claims covered by this duty. It is the express intention of 
the Parties that the Covered Parties shall be entitled to obtain summary adjudication regarding the 
duty to defend at any assertion of any claim covered by this section. Notwithstanding the 
foregoing, any of the Covered Parties may, in their sole and absolute discretion and at their own 
cost, engage their own attorneys and other professionals to defend or assist them; however, such 
attorneys shall not resolve the claim or proceeding without the consent of Developer, which shall 
not be unreasonably withheld, and the costs of such other attorneys and professionals are not 
subject to indemnification unless such attorneys or professionals are engaged as a result of 
Developer’s failures to meet its obligations pursuant to this paragraph. Such duty to defend shall 
apply throughout the term of this Agreement and through the expiration of the statute of limitations 
for all claims. Such duties shall apply to and through all appeals. Nothing in this paragraph shall 
be construed to limit the remedies available to the City. No obligation imposed hereby shall be 
deemed to alter the state’s waiver is sovereign liability pursuant to Section 768.28, Florida Statutes, 
or to extend the liability beyond such limits. Notwithstanding the foregoing or anything else to the 
contrary contained in this Agreement, in the event Developer pays or reimburses any amounts 
pursuant to this section, such amount shall be credited against indemnification to ensure that such 
indemnification costs are not reimbursed twice. 

 
Section 31. Indemnification. Separate and independent of the duty to defend provided 

in the previous paragraph, to the fullest extent permitted by law, Developer shall indemnify and 
hold harmless the Covered Parties from any and all claims arising from this Agreement or the 
Variance (including reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs, regardless of whether a defense is 
provided as required by the duty to defend described above). Notwithstanding, such indemnity 
shall not apply to damages caused by the negligent acts or omissions or willful, wanton, or 
intentional misconduct of such indemnified parties. Such obligation of indemnification shall apply 
throughout the term of this Agreement and through the expiration of the statute of limitations for 
all claims. Such duties shall apply to and through all appeals. Nothing in this paragraph shall be 
construed to limit the remedies available to the City. No obligation imposed hereby shall be 
deemed to alter the state’s waiver is sovereign liability pursuant to Section 768.28, Florida Statutes, 
or to extend the liability beyond such limits. 

 
[Signatures Follow] 

  

Page 31 of 183



{BBA Firm Docs/2026/190272/00931397.DOCX:5 } 13 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the parties have hereunto set their hands and seals the day 
and year so shown. 

 
 
FOR CITY OF NEPTUNE BEACH 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Attest 
 
 
       
________________, City Clerk 

 
 
 
 
       
_______________, Mayor 
 
 
 
       
_________________, City Manager 
 
 
   (City Seal) 
 

  
Approved to form: 
 
 
       
ZACHARY ROTH, ESQ., City Attorney 

 

 
 
STATE OF FLORIDA 
 
COUNTY OF DUVAL 
 
 The foregoing instrument was signed, delivered, and acknowledged before me by means 
of ☐ physical presence or ☐ online notarization this ____ day of ______________________ 2021, 
by ____________________, as Mayor of the City of Neptune Beach, and ___________________, 
as City Manager of the City of Neptune Beach, a political subdivision of the State of Florida, on 
behalf of the City. Such persons ☐ are each personally known to me or ☐ have each produced a 
_____________________ as identification.  
 
 

  
Notary Public 

My Commission Expires:  

Page 32 of 183



{BBA Firm Docs/2026/190272/00931397.DOCX:5 } 14 
 

 
FOR NEPTUNE BEACH, FL REALTY 
LLC 

 
 
_____________________________________ 
By:   
Title:   

Witnesses: 
 
 
       
Print: _______________________________ 
 
 
       
Print: _______________________________ 
 
 

 
STATE OF   
 
COUNTY OF   
 
 The foregoing instrument was signed, delivered, and acknowledged before me by means 
of ☐ physical presence or ☐ online notarization this ____ day of ______________________ 2021, 
by ____________________, as _______________________ of Neptune Beach, FL Realty LLC, 
a Florida limited liability company, on behalf of the company. Such person ☐ is personally known 
to me or ☐ has produced a _____________________ as identification.  
 
 

  
Notary Public 

My Commission Expires: 

Page 33 of 183



15 

EXHIBIT LIST 

Exhibit A – Legal Description of Property 

Exhibit B – Improvements 

Exhibit C – Conceptual Depictions of Improvements 

Exhibit D – Schedule of Improvements 

Exhibit E – Coordination Meetings 

Exhibit F – Conceptual Depiction of Patio 

Page 34 of 183



EXHIBIT A 

Legal Description of the Property 

A PARCEL OF LAND LYING IN GOVERNMENT LOT 2, SECTION 21, TOWNSHIP 2 
SOUTH, RANGE 29 EAST, DUVAL COUNTY FLORIDA, BEING MORE PARTICULARLY 
DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 

FOR A POINT OF REFERENCE COMMENCE AT THE SOUTHERLY RIGHT OF WAY LINE 
OF ATLANTIC BOULEVARD (HAVING A 100 FOOT RIGHT OF WAY) WITH THE 
WESTERLY RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF THIRD STREET NORTH (HAVING A 100 FOOT 
RIGHT OF WAY) AND RUN SOUTH 89°24’50” WEST ALONG THE SOUTHERLY RIGHT 
OF WAY LINE OF SAID ATLANTIC BOULEVARD, 1,533.56 FEET TO THE NORTHEAST 
CORNER OF LANDS DESCRIBED IN THE OFFICIAL RECORDS OF SAID COUNTY IN 
VOLUME 3177, PAGE 821 FOR THE POINT OF BEGINNING. 

FROM THE POINT OF BEGINNING THUS DESCRIBED RUN SOUTH 00°35’10” EAST 
ALONG THE EAST LINE OF LAST MENTIONED LANDS AND THE SOUTHERLY 
PROLONGATION OF SAID LINE, 754.81 FEET TO AN IRON PIPE SET ON THE 
SOUTHERLY LINE OF SAID GOVERNMENT LOT 2, SECTION 21; RUN THENCE NORTH 
89°03’45” EAST ALONG SAID SOUTHERLY LINE OF GOVERNMENT LOT 2, A 
DISTANCE OF 483.50 FEET; RUN THENCE NORTH 00°56’15” WEST, 63.62 FEET TO A 
POINT; RUN THENCE NORTH 24°57’16” EAST, 43.21 FEET TO A POINT; RUN THENCE 
NORTH 00°23'59" WEST, A DISTANCE OF 91.31 FEET TO A POINT; RUN THENCE 
NORTH 89°29'22" EAST, 42.23 FEET; RUN THENCE NORTH 00°30'38" WEST, 165.03 
FEET; RUN THENCE SOUTH 89°29'22" WEST, 41.91 FEET; RUN THENCE NORTH 
00°23'59" WEST, A DISTANCE OF 198.91 FEET TO A POINT LYING ON THE SOUTH LINE 
OF THE LANDS DESCRIBED IN OFFICIAL RECORDS BOOK 16740, PAGE 808; RUN 
THENCE SOUTH 89°24’50” WEST, ALONG SAID SOUTH LINE, AND ALONG THE 
SOUTH LINE OF THE LANDS DESCRIBED IN OFFICIAL RECORDS BOOK 8978, PAGE 
2260, A DISTANCE OF 182.01 FEET TO THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF SAID LANDS 
DESCRIBED IN OFFICIAL RECORDS BOOK 8978, PAGE 2260; RUN THENCE NORTH 
00°35’10” WEST, ALONG THE WEST LINE OF THE LAST SAID LANDS, A DISTANCE OF 
194.00 FEET TO A POINT ON THE SOUTHERLY RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF ATLANTIC 
BOULEVARD (100' RIGHT OF WAY AS NOW ESTABLISHED); RUN THENCE SOUTH 
89°24’50” WEST ALONG SAID SOUTHERLY RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF ATLANTIC 
BOULEVARD, A DISTANCE OF 321.15 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING. 

Exhibit A 

Page 35 of 183



Exhibit B 

EXHIBIT B 

Improvements 

Page 36 of 183



EXHIBIT B 

The Improvements 

Description Visual Cross-Reference 
1. New grand-entrance arrival street (at existing full-

access entrance opposite Sylvan Drive): 

(a) Approximately 360 linear feet of new sidewalk
will be constructed to connect existing public sidewalk on 
Atlantic Blvd. to shops on west side of entry drive. 

(b) Approximately 160 linear feet of new sidewalk
will be constructed on east side of entry drive, from the 
shops to the property line of the 560 Atlantic Blvd. (Ameris 
Bank), which is not owned by Developer and there is no 
requirement for the Developer to construct improvements on 
the 560 Atlantic Blvd. property. 

(c) On-street parallel parking.
(d) Center, landscaped median
(e) Extension of private water and sewer utility

lines in preparation for the possible future development of 
an outparcel building. 

(f) Sidewalks and median to be landscaped per the
Landscape Plan. 

(g) All landscaped areas will be irrigated and
maintained. 

(h) New paving, curbing, and sidewalks (in all
areas) will meet or exceed quality standards and 
requirements of all Codes and Regulations including those 
within The Florida DOT Design Manual (the “Green 
Book”).  

(i) Lane width of 12’ in each direction will be
provided. 

Page 37 of 183



Description Visual Cross-Reference 
2. Transformation of front drive aisle into

“Lemon Street”:

(a) The existing front drive aisle to the
property, which is in alignment with Lemon
Street in the Beaches Town Center, will be
reconfigured across the 540-580 Atlantic Blvd.
parcel. The reconfiguration shifts the roadway
north and introduce an intentional curve to
meet the intersection with the entry drive.
These changes serve both to introduce traffic
calming to support a pedestrian-friendly
environment and create space to create the new
arrival pedestrian plaza. Lane width of 12’ in
each direction (24’ total width) will be
provided.
(b) A tabletop, an area of raised roadbed

constructed with concrete and pavers, will be
constructed along portions of Lemon Street
near Publix and the pedestrian plaza. The
tabletop is a traffic calming feature which also
serves to support a flush curb which is a
pedestrian and cart-friendly feature.

Page 38 of 183



Description Visual Cross-Reference 
3. New entry monument sign and enhanced

landscape along Atlantic Blvd. frontage:

a) The existing monument signs will be
replaced with a new monument sign
featuring “Beaches Modern” design to
replicate architectural renovations.
Signage is subject to permits and
requirements of Chapter 27, Article XV of
the Code.

b) Enhanced landscape, depicted in the
Landscape Plan, with an emphasis on
native landscaping and retaining existing
healthy, mature pine and other trees while
introducing hardscape design elements
from plaza design.

c) JTA bus stop, if active, will be enhanced
with new bench and trash receptable.

Page 39 of 183



Description Visual Cross-Reference 
4. New arrival pedestrian plaza:

a) A new pedestrian plaza will be
created by curving Lemon Street north. The 
plaza, roughly in the shape of a lemon wedge, 
measures approximately 160’ across (east-
west) by 48’ deep measured from the building 
edge to the curb line at the outermost edge of 
the curve, which is centered on the entry drive. 
The depth tapers to about 30’ on the edge of the 
plaza where the plaza transitions into the 
expanded Front Walks. 

b) Prominent “Lemonade” sculpture
and water feature in center of plaza, situated to 
be visible from the new entry street and lemon 
street. Water feature creates pleasant sound for 
pedestrians and those enjoying the plaza. 

c) Pedestrian plaza features a mix of
landscaped and hardscape areas. Surfacing is a 
diamond-pattern scored concrete, reminiscent 
of fish scales. Running through this pattern are 
long, wave-like lines in a contrasting color. 
These surfaces will be interspersed with areas 
of wood-like decking reminiscent of a 
boardwalk. 

Page 40 of 183



Description (Continued) Visual Cross-Reference 
d) Outdoor seating will be interspersed

throughout pedestrian plaza with a combination
of formalized seating areas operated by tenants
and dispersed communal seating areas. A
combination of seating types is envisioned
including various-sized tables and chairs,
benches, and “Adirondack” style lounge chairs.
Canopies, the trellis, and umbrellas will offer
shaded seating. (Outdoor seating/dining is a use
by special exception within the C-3 zoning
district and this use will be subject to City
Council approval of Developer’s application(s)
for special exception).

e) Outdoor power outlets will be installed on
building wall and seat walls adjacent to seating
to provide power for laptop and phone 
charging.

f)  Free public WiFi will be installed to
serve the plaza area.

g) Art reflecting the local Beaches
community will be featured in the wall space
behind the plaza (e.g., vintage photographs of
Neptune Beach, work by local artists, coastal-
themed mosaic etc.)

h) Pedestrian-scaled light fixture will serve
the plaza area. In additional, power will be
installed for decorative and seasonal lighting,
including holiday palm tree lighting.

Page 41 of 183



Description Visual Cross-Reference 
5. Transformation of Front Walk along all retail

spaces and New Courtyard: 
(a) Extending to the east and west from the new arrival

plaza, the front walk has been enlarged along the entire front 
of the retail space to provide for additional space. The 
minimum expansion of the walk is 8 feet, excepting the far 
western area west of the of the Publix entrance where the 
sidewalk expansion tapers gradually from 8’ to 0’ to permit 
Lemon Street to align with the proposed vehicular 
connection. 

(b) Additional front walk space creates room for
landscape areas, outdoor seating and furnishings. 

(c) New outdoor courtyard will be created by
deconstructing a portion of the existing in-line retail building 
to create an outdoor amenity with planting and an outdoor 
seating/dining area to support future tenants (e.g, restaurant, 
café, coffee shops). The size of the courtyard will be 
approximately 30 feet deep by 32 to 40 feet wide. The exact 
width will be dependent on the courtyard location. 

(d) If the in-line retail building is leased to restaurants
that seek outdoor seating/dining for restaurant use, the 
Developer and/or tenants will apply for special exception 
for outdoor seating/dining for restaurant use and this use 
will be subject to City Council approval. The courtyard 
feature will also improve the massing and interest of the in-
line store architecture. 

(e) A minimum of 20 bicycle parking spaces will be
provided in convenient locations throughout the front walk 
area and pedestrian plaza, with an emphasis on creative and 
visible bicycle rack design and placement. 

Page 42 of 183



Description Visual Cross-Reference 
6. Renovated Beaches Modern façade:

(a) Façade of all retail stores will be renovated with
a “Beaches Modern” style with emphasis on
white painted EIFS and wood textures.

(b) Creation of new metal canopies and
architectural detailing on Public façade and in-
line retail spaces.

(c) Signature trellis to be installed over the new
plaza area with exposed “surfboard” structure.

Page 43 of 183



Description Visual Cross-Reference 
7. Western Vehicular Connection:

(a) A 24’ wide driveway (12’ lane width in each
direction) will be constructed extending “Lemon Street” 
west across the ditch and to the property line shared with 
630 Atlantic Blvd. (Seminole Shoppes, which is not 
owned by Developer) to connect to a driveway previously 
constructed on 630 Atlantic Blvd. There is no requirement 
for Developer to construct improvements on or maintain 
the condition of the 630 Atlantic Blvd. property. Legal use 
of the connector will be subject to permission from owner 
of 630 Atlantic Blvd. 

(b) A pedestrian sidewalk will be connected from the
retail stores to the western property line. An outdoor bench 
will be added alongside the sidewalk 

Page 44 of 183



Description Visual Cross-Reference 
8. Significant renovation of the existing parking field:

(a) Incorporation of approximately 9 golf-cart parking
spaces on western edge of parking field with pervious
paving surface and available electric power for
charging.

(b) Bench seating and signage will be provided for a
Beaches Buggy pickup/drop-off area.

(c) Electric vehicle charging station will be installed.
(d) Existing automobile parking space count will be

reduced from 354 spaces currently to approximately
290 spaces.

(e) New LED-lighting fixtures with new full cut-off heads,
poles, and bases will be installed.

(f) Current number of parking lot islands will be more than
doubled with construction of approximately 19 new
landscaped parking lot islands. Nearly all existing
landscape islands will be increased in size.

(g) Significant new irrigated landscape will be installed per
the Landscape Plan.

(h) Parking lot maintenance, including mill and repave and
striping, of the remaining asphalt surfaces will be
performed together with the improvements.

Page 45 of 183



Description Visual Cross-Reference 

9. Additional rear tree planting for
screening purposes:

(a) A line of trees will be
planted on the north edge of the rear 
stormwater ditch to provide additional 
screening for adjacent residential area. 
See Landscape Plan for details. 

Page 46 of 183



Landscape Plan – Plant Material 

Trees  

The tree and plant species, specifications, and locations depicted on the Landscape Plan and Plant 
Material Schedules govern the Improvements and supersede all other depictions. 

Page 47 of 183



Landscape Plan – Plant Material 

Shrubs and Ground Cover 

The tree and plant species, specifications, and locations depicted on the Landscape Plan and Plant 
Material Schedules govern the Improvements and supersede all other depictions. 

Page 48 of 183



Landscape Plan 

The tree and plant species, specifications, and locations depicted on the Landscape Plan and Plant 
Material Schedules govern the Improvements and supersede all other depictions. 

Page 49 of 183



Landscape Plan (with labels) 

The tree and plant species, specifications, and locations depicted on the Landscape Plan and Plant 
Material Schedules govern the Improvements and supersede all other depictions. 

Page 50 of 183



Sc
he

m
at

ic
 E

le
va

tio
ns

 &
 M

at
er

ia
lit

y 

Fu
ll 

Si
ze

 P
la

n 
(4

2”
 b

y 
30

”)
 sh

al
l r

em
ai

n 
on

 fi
le

 a
t t

he
 C

ity
 o

f N
ep

tu
ne

 B
ea

ch
 

Page 51 of 183



Sc
he

m
at

ic
 H

ar
ds

ca
pe

 &
 M

at
er

ia
lit

y 

Fu
ll 

Si
ze

 P
la

n 
(6

0”
 b

y 
30

”)
 sh

al
l r

em
ai

n 
on

 fi
le

 a
t t

he
 C

ity
 o

f N
ep

tu
ne

 B
ea

ch
 

Page 52 of 183



List of Façade Materials 

Substrate: 

Steel frame structure 

Cold-formed metal stud framing 

Glass fiber reinforced gypsum sheathing 

Fluid applied latex waterproofing membrane 

Painted Stucco Finish: 

Drainable Cement Plaster system 

AND/OR 

Drainable EIFS (Exterior Insulation and Finish System) 

Wood Rainscreen: 

Pressure or composite furrings strips 
Tropical Hardwood rainscreen siding (Ipe, or similar) 

 OR  

Galvanized metal furring materials 
Wood/Resin composite panel 

Canopies: 

Fluoropolymer (KYNAR) pre- finished and pre-engineered aluminum fabrications 
Glue-laminated engineered wood structural elements 

Page 53 of 183



Page 54 of 183



Page 55 of 183



Exhibit C 

EXHIBIT C 

Conceptual Depictions of Improvements 

Page 56 of 183



540-580 Atlantic Blvd
Numbers Correspond
to Items on Exhibit B3

1

2

4 567

8

9
C-1

Page 57 of 183



C-
2 

C 

Page 58 of 183



C-
3 

Page 59 of 183



C-
4 

Page 60 of 183



C-
5 

Page 61 of 183



Exhibit D 

EXHIBIT D 

Schedule of Improvements 

Page 62 of 183



Exhibit D - Schedule of Improvements
540-580 Atlantic Blvd.

Milestone Anticipated Date Range (for Information Purposes) Binding Date (No Later Than)
Variance Approval 3/1/21

First Read of Development Agreement 2/16/21
Second Read and Approval of Development Agreement 3/1/21

City Manager & Developer Coordinaton Meeting #1 3/1/21
Publix Interior Construction Permit Submission* 3/15/21

Satisfaction of Conditions Precedent 4/1/21
FDOT Driveway Permit Application 4/5/21

City Manager & Developer Coordinaton Meeting #2 4/5/21
Publix Interior Construction Start* 5/2/21

City Manager & Developer Coordinaton Meeting #3 5/3/21
City Manager & Developer Coordinaton Meeting #4 6/7/21

Landlord Building Permit Submittal to CONB 5/3/21 8/19/21
Landlord Construction of Improvements Commencement 7/2/21 10/20/21

City Manager & Developer Coordinaton Meeting #5 8/16/21
City Manager & Developer Coordinaton Meeting #6 10/18/21
City Manager & Developer Coordinaton Meeting #7 12/6/21

Publix Interior Construction Completion* Est. 12/8/21
Publix Grand Opening Date* Est. 1/27/2022

City Manager & Developer Coordinaton Meeting #8 2/7/22
Landlord Construction of Improvements Substantial Completion Phased 12/8/21-5/1/22 8/19/22

Notes
Bolded Items with Binding Date represent a Developer 
obligation to satisfy Milestone no later than the date shown.

Anticipated Dates and Date Ranges represent current and best
projections of key development milestones but are presented here
for information purposes only and are subject to refinement as
design and engineering advances.

*Dates with asterisk reflect Developer's understanding of
anticipated Publix schedule as reviewed on 1/28/21  call with
Publix and Landlord design and engineering representatives and
are subject to change

Page 63 of 183



Exhibit E 

EXHIBIT E 

Coordination Meetings 

Page 64 of 183



Exhibit E - Coordination Meetings

Date (All Meetings 1 p.m.) Items to be Reviewed City Objections Due
Monday, March 1, 2021 Design Development Architectural and Landscape Drawings, 

Preliminary Engineering Design Drawings
Friday, March 12, 2021

Monday, April 5, 2021 Mid-Stage Architectural, Landscape, and Engineering 
Construction Documents and Specifications

Friday, April 16, 2021

Monday, May 3, 2021 Final Architectural, Landscape, and Engineering Construction 
Documents and Specifications/Initial Construction Coordination

Friday, May 14, 2021

Monday, June 7, 2021 Initial Construction Coordination Monday, June 14, 2021
Monday, August 16, 2021 Construction Coordination Monday, August 23, 2021
Monday, October 18, 2021 Construction Coordination Monday, October 25, 2021
Monday, December 6, 2021 Construction Coordination Monday, December 13, 2021
Monday, February 7, 2022 Construction Coordination/Project Walk-Thru Monday, February 14, 2022

Page 65 of 183



Exhibit F 

EXHIBIT F 

Conceptual Depiction of Patio 

Page 66 of 183



E
X

H
IB

IT
 F

 

C
on

ce
pt

ua
l D

ep
ic

tio
n 

of
 P

at
io

 

Page 67 of 183



Page 68 of 183

Item # 7B
V20-01



Page 69 of 183



Page 70 of 183



Page 71 of 183



Page 72 of 183



Page 73 of 183



Page 74 of 183



Page 75 of 183



Page 76 of 183



Page 77 of 183



Page 78 of 183



Page 79 of 183



Page 80 of 183



Page 81 of 183



Page 82 of 183



Page 83 of 183



Page 84 of 183



Page 85 of 183



Page 86 of 183



Page 87 of 183



Page 88 of 183



Page 89 of 183



Page 90 of 183



Page 91 of 183



Page 92 of 183



Page 93 of 183



Page 94 of 183



Page 95 of 183



Page 96 of 183



Page 97 of 183



Page 98 of 183



Page 99 of 183



Page 100 of 183



Page 101 of 183



Page 102 of 183



Page 103 of 183



Page 104 of 183



Page 105 of 183



Page 106 of 183



Page 107 of 183



Page 108 of 183



Page 109 of 183



Page 110 of 183



Page 111 of 183



Page 112 of 183



Page 113 of 183



Page 114 of 183



Page 115 of 183



Page 116 of 183



Page 117 of 183



Page 118 of 183



Page 119 of 183



Page 120 of 183



Page 121 of 183



Page 122 of 183



Page 123 of 183



Page 124 of 183



Page 125 of 183



Page 126 of 183



Page 127 of 183



Page 128 of 183



Page 129 of 183



Page 130 of 183



Page 131 of 183



Page 132 of 183



Page 133 of 183



Page 134 of 183



Page 135 of 183



Page 136 of 183



Page 137 of 183



Page 138 of 183



Page 139 of 183



Page 140 of 183



Page 141 of 183



Page 142 of 183



Page 143 of 183



Page 144 of 183



Page 145 of 183



Page 146 of 183



Page 147 of 183



Page 148 of 183



Page 149 of 183



Page 150 of 183



Page 151 of 183



Page 152 of 183



Page 153 of 183



Attendance 

Call to Order/Roll 
Call 

Disclosure of 
ex-parte 
communications 

Minutes 

MINUTES 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT BOARD 

SEPTEMBER 16, 2020 AT 6:00 P .M. 
COUNCIL CHAMBERS 

116 FIRST STREET 

NEPTUNE BEACH, FLORIDA 32266 

Pursuant to proper notice a public hearing of the Community Development Board 
for the City of Neptune Beach was held both in person and via telecommunication 
on September 16, 2020 at 6:00 p.m. in the Council Chambers.

Board members were in attendance: 
Christopher Goodin, Chair 
Ryan Dill (via web) 
Aaron Evens, Member 
W. Jeremy Randolph, Member
Bob Frosio, Member
Charles Miller, Member
Nia Livingston, Member

Mr. Schwartzenberger and Mr. Raitti (alternate members) were in the audience. 

The following staff members were present: 
Stefen Wynn, City Manager 
Zachary Roth, City Attorney 
Kristina Wright, Community Development Director 
Piper Turner, Code Compliance Supervisor 

Chair Goodin called the meeting to order at 6:00 p.m. 

All members disclosed they had spoken with members of the public. 
Ms. Livingston, Mr. Miller and Mr. Goodin had also spoken with the applicant. 

Made by Evens, seconded by Miller. 

MOTION: 

Roll Call Vote: 

TO APPROVE AUGUST 12, 2020 MINUTES AS 
SUBMITTED. 

Ayes: ?-Evens, Randolph, Miller, Livingston, Frosio, Dill, Goodin 

Noes: 0 

MOTION CARRIED 

Page 154 of 183

CDB Minutes
09-16-2020

Approved 6-1



Page 155 of 183

NBCityClerk
Highlight

NBCityClerk_1
Highlight

NBCityClerk_2
Highlight

NBCityClerk_3
Highlight

NBCityClerk_4
Highlight



September 16, 2020 COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT BOARD PAGES 

alternatives such as GreenWise branding, subleasing, etc. 

The applicant indicates that a "strict application of Note 6 of Table 27-229-1 creates 
a hardship that is unique to this parcel and not share by other property owners in 
the same zoning district"; this does not preclude other economically viable 
alternatives that would meet the requirement of the land development code. 

In terms of number 2, required finding is needed to issue a variance: The 
proposed variance is the minimum necessary to allow the reasonable use of the 
parcel of land. 

The applicant states that they are seeking to replace Lucky's Market without any 
expansion of the existing footprint. Claims that the denial of the proposed variance 
would prohibit Publix from taking assignment of the lease, which would then enable 
Lucky's Market to reject their lease with the property owner. This would terminate 
the lease, despite approximately 16 years of term remaining per the terms of the 
lease. The applicant indicates without a variance the property owner would be 
"permanently unable to attain its reasonable investment-backed expectations from 
the existing lease". 

Staff asserts that other viable alternatives exist that would allow the property owner 
to realize benefits obtained through the reasonable use of their land. Most uses of 
this site would be unaffected by this provision. Those uses on this site would be 
unaffected by this privilege. 

In terms of number 3, required findings needed to issue a variance, the proposed 
variance will not adversely affect adjacent or nearby properties or the public in 
general. 

The applicant responds that the proposed variance does not alter the existing, 
permitted used of the property, a retail grocery anchor store. A number of 
improvements are planned to renovate the overall development. Re-opening of a 
grocery store at the property would create positive benefits to the nearby properties 
and the public in general. Granting of the variance supports the Comprehensive 
Plan Goal A.1 and Objective A.1 .3 redevelopment and infill development by 
encouraging infill redevelopment and avoiding blighting influences. The opening of a 
Publix grocery store at 580 Atlantic Blvd. is anticipated to create 50 additional 
permanent jobs, in addition to construction jobs, will have a beneficial impact on tax 
collection and provide essential service to the public. 

While redevelopment and the creation of additional jobs is desirable, the addition of 
another Publix within 500 feet of an existing Publix on the immediately adjacent 
parcel expands the scale of development within a small coastal community and 
does not adhere to the requirements of the LDC while other viable alternatives exist. 

In terms of Number 4: The proposed variance will not diminish property values or 
the character of the area. According to the applicant the proposed variance does not 
alter the existing, permitted use, a retail grocery anchor store or alter any physical 
characteristics of the property from the existing condition. The proposed variance 
would not substantially diminish property values in, nor alter the essential character 
of the areas surrounding the site. Furthermore, the re-opening of a store, particularly 
an industry-leading grocery store with strong finances and significant history, 
provides for long-term stability in property values and further supports Objective 
A.1.3 redevelopment and infill development by encouraging infill development.

In terms of number 5: The proposed variance is in harmony with the general
intent of ULDC. The applicant stated that the property is in the Commercial C-3 

Page 156 of 183



Page 157 of 183



Page 158 of 183



Page 159 of 183



Page 160 of 183



Page 161 of 183

NBCityClerk_5
Highlight

NBCityClerk_6
Highlight

NBCityClerk_7
Highlight



September 16, 2020 COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT BOARD PAGE9 

Adjournment 

Roll Call Vote: 
Ayes: 6- Evens, Randolph, Livingston, Frosio, Dill, Goodin
Noes: 1-Miller

MOTION APPROVED. 

The applicants were informed their variance would be forwarded to City Council 
for their final decisions on October 5th at 6:00 pm. 

The next board meeting will be October 14, 2020 at 6:00 pm. There being no 
further business, the meeting adjourned at 7:08 p.m. 

Chairperson Christopher Goodin 

ATTEST: 

Piper Turner, Board Secretary 

Page 162 of 183

NBCityClerk_8
Highlight

NBCityClerk_9
Highlight

NBCityClerk_10
Highlight



Page 163 of 183



Page 164 of 183



Page 165 of 183



Page 166 of 183



Page 167 of 183



Page 168 of 183



Page 169 of 183



Page 170 of 183



Page 171 of 183



Page 172 of 183



CITY OF NEPTUNE BEACH
CITY COUNCIL MEETING

STAFF REPORT

AGENDA ITEM: ORDINANCE NO. 2021-01, FIRST READ AND 
PUBLIC HEARING, An Ordinance of the City of 
Neptune Beach, Florida, Amending Chapter 22 
of the Code of Ordinances, Traffic and Motor 
Vehicles, by Amending Section 22-46, 
Penalties; Providing for Conflicts; Providing for 
Severability; and Providing an Effective Date.

SUBMITTED BY: Mobility Management Director Megan Steward

DATE: February 24, 2021

BACKGROUND: In enforcing the provisions of the Code, the City has determined that
alternative penalties would facilitate more efficient administration of the
terms of Chapter 22 and provide clarity to users of parking within the
controlled and/or metered parking zones within the City.

The proposed ordinances was moved forward for First Read at the 
February 16, 2021 Council workshop.

BUDGET: N/A

RECOMMENDATION: Consider Ordinance No. 2021-01 on First Read 

ATTACHMENT: 1. Ord. No. 2021-01, Parking

Page 173 of 183

Item # 8A
Ord. No. 
2021-01



Ord. No. 2021-01 Page 1 

SPONSORED BY: 

MAYOR BROWN 

 ORDINANCE NO. 2021-01 

A BILL TO BE ENTITLED 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF NEPTUNE BEACH, FLORIDA, 
AMENDING CHAPTER 22 OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES,TRAFFIC 
AND MOTOR VEHICLES, BY AMENDING SECTION 22-46, PENALTIES; 
PROVIDING FOR CONFLICTS; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; AND 
PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Neptune Beach, adopted Ordinance No. 
2019-07, establishing controlled and metered parking within certain designated zones 
within the City; and 

WHEREAS, Ordinance No. 2019-07 established Section 22-46, which outlines 
penalties for violations of Chapter 22, Artivle IV of the Code; and 

WHEREAS, Chapter 22 provides for penalties in the form of immobilization or towing 
of vehicles in violation of its provisions; and 

WHEREAS, in enforcing the provisions of the Code, the City has determined that 
alternative penalties would facilitate more efficient administration of the terms of Chapter 22 
and provide clarity to users of parking within the controlled and/or metered parking zones 
within the City; and 

WHEREAS, the City has determined that a process designed to facilitate collection 
of fines, utilized in conjunction with immobilization and towing, will provide for such efficient 
administration; and 

WHEREAS, the City also desires to implement a procedure for the appeal of parking 
tickets under Chapter 22; and 

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Neptune Beach finds that these revisions 
to the City of Neptune Beach’s Code will preserve, promote, and protect the health, safety, 
and welfare of its citizens. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ENACTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL ON BEHALF OF THE 
PEOPLE OF THE CITY OF NEPTUNE BEACH, FLORIDA that: 

SECTION 1. Chapter 22-46, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Neptune Beach, 
Florida is hereby amended as follows: 

Page 174 of 183



 
 

  
Ord. No. 2021-01  Page 2 
 

Sec. 22-46. – Penalties. 

 
(a) Any person convicted of violating any section of this article shall be punished 

as provided in chapter 22, Traffic and Motor Vehicles. 
 

(b) Alternative Procedure. In addition to any other penalties authorized by this 
Chapter, the city adopts the following procedure, which may be used at the 
election of the district parking officer, but shall not be construed to be 
mandatory. 

1. At least thirty (30) days following a motor vehicle’s third (3rd) 
outstanding parking ticket, the district parking operator may deliver a 
first notice of outstanding fines to the address on file for the owner of 
the motor vehicle with the Department of Motor Vehicles, Neptune 
Beach Police Department, or other government agency. In the event 
such records are unavailable to the City, the district parking operator 
may send such notice to any address reasonably believed by the 
district parking operator to be affiliated with the owner of the motor 
vehicle. 

2. At least thirty days following a first notice, the district parking operator 
may deliver a second notice of outstanding fines to the address used 
for the first notice or such other address as the district parking 
operator has determined to be more likely that of the owner of the 
motor vehicle since delivery of the first notice. 

3. At least thirty days following a second notice, the district parking 
operator may cause to be scheduled a hearing before the special 
magistrate regarding such outstanding parking tickets. Notice of such 
hearing shall be delivered to the address used for the first or second 
notice or such other address as the district parking operator has 
determined to be more likely that of the owner of the motor vehicle 
since delivery of the first or second notice.The hearing before the 
special magistrate shall occur no sooner than ten (10) days after the 
notice of hearing is sent by the district parking operator.  

4. In the event a hearing is scheduled before the special magistrate, 
such hearing shall be conducted as provided in Chapter 2, Article VII, 
Division 2 of the Code. In addition to assessing the fines contained on 
the face of each parking ticket, the special magistrate shall also have 
the authority to assess their fees and costs, the City’s legal fees and 
costs and costs of complying with the notice provisions of this section, 
and any other costs associated with the hearing against the owner of 
the motor vehicle, as well as to assess additional fines as follows: 

i. For owners of motor vehicles appearing for outstanding parking 
tickets before the special magistrate for the first time, daily 

Page 175 of 183



 
 

  
Ord. No. 2021-01  Page 3 
 

fines from the date of the parking ticket in the amount of up to 
ten dollars ($10.00) per day. 

ii. For owners of motor vehicles who have previously appeared 
for outstanding parking tickets before the special, daily fines 
from the date of the parking ticket in the amount of up to twenty 
dollars ($20.00) per day. 

5. Any notice delivered pursuant to this section shall be deemed valid 
and delivered if made in the manner described in Section 2-446. 

6. The city shall have the right to utilize any available method to obtain 
collection of any amounts awarded by the special magistrate under 
this section. The city shall also be authorized to obtain the assistance 
of the courts to collect such award. Any judicial remedies to be sought 
by this section are in addition to any other power of the city regarding 
parking enforcement. In the event it is necessary for the city to utilize 
the services of legal counsel in any collection procedures that utilize 
the assistance of the courts, the city shall be entitled to recover its 
reasonable attorney's fees and costs incurred in that action. 

(c) Appeals. In the event any person believes they have received a parking ticket 
or other fine in error or otherwise contrary to the terms and provisions of this 
Article, they may appeal such parking ticket or other fine as follows: 

1. Within ten (10) business days of the issuance of the ticket or fine, the 
owner of such motor vehicle may submit a written appeal to the district 
parking operator through the city’s website established for the 
controlled and/or metered parking within the city or alternative 
procedure adopted in writing by the district parking operator. Such 
written appeal shall include an email or mailing address for such 
appellant. If no appeal is filed within such time period or no email or 
mailing address is provided for such appellant, the validity of the ticket 
or fine shall be deemed admitted. 

2. Within ten (10) business days of receipt of a written appeal, the district 
parking operator shall determine whether to enforce, reduce, or waive 
the ticket or fine and shall provide notice to the appellant of such 
decision. 

3. Within ten (10) business days of receipt of the determination of the 
district parking operator, the appellant may appeal such decision to 
the special magistrate.  

4. The special magistrate shall hear such appeal at their next scheduled 
hearing, which shall shall be conducted as provided in Chapter 2, 
Article VII, Division 2 of the Code. 

 

Page 176 of 183



Ord. No. 2021-01 Page 4 

5. In the event the the special magistrate upholds all or any of the ticket
or fine as determined by the district parking operator, the appellant
shall be responsible for all fees and costs associated with the hearing,
including those of the special magistrate and the legal fees and costs
of the city. In the event the special magistrate overturns the decision
of the district parking operator and waives the ticket or fine, the city
shall bear the costs of the special magistrate and its own legal fees
and costs.

SECTION 2. Conflict. All ordinances, resolutions, official determinations or parts thereof 
previously adopted or entered by the City or any of its officials and in conflict with this 
ordinance are repealed to the extent inconsistent herewith. 

SECTION 3.  Severability.  If a Court of competent jurisdiction at any time finds any 
provision of this Ordinance to be unlawful, illegal, or unenforceable, the offending provision 
shall be deemed severable and removed from the remaining provisions of this Ordinance 
which shall remain in full force and intact. 

SECTION 4.  Effective Date. This ordinance shall take effect upon final reading and 
approval. 

VOTE RESULTS OF FIRST READING: 

Mayor Elaine Brown  
   Vice Mayor Fred Jones 

Councilor Kerry Chin 
Councilor Lauren Key  
Councilor Josh Messinger 

Passed on First Reading this ____ day of March, 2021. 

VOTE RESULTS OF SECOND AND FINAL READING: 

Mayor Elaine Brown  
Vice Mayor Fred Jones 
Councilor Kerry Chin 
Councilor Lauren Key  
Councilor Josh Messinger 

Passed on Second and Final Reading this  ____ day of April, 2021. 

Page 177 of 183



Ord. No. 2021-01 Page 5 

Elaine Brown, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

Catherine Ponson, City Clerk 

Approved as to form and content: 

Zachary Roth, City Attorney 

Page 178 of 183



CITY OF NEPTUNE BEACH
CITY COUNCIL MEETING

STAFF REPORT

AGENDA ITEM: RESOLUTION NO. 2021-05, A Resolution of the City 
of Neptune Beach Requesting a Beaches Trail 
Loop/East Coast Greenway Feasibility Study Be 
Included in the North Florida Transportation Planning 
Organization's 2021/2022 Unified Planning Work 
Program

SUBMITTED BY: Grants and Resiliency Coordinator Colin Moore

DATE: February 24, 2021

BACKGROUND: The City is requesting that that the North Florida Transportation Planning 
Organization include a Beaches Trail Loop/East Coast Greenway Feasibility 
Study in the 2021/22 Unified Planning Work Program (UPWP).

Study requests are submitted to the North Florida Transportation Planning 
Organization (TPO) each February for consideration. This study was 
included in the UPWP for FY 2020/21 through 2021/22 and is tentatively 
scheduled to begin in Fall, 2021. The TPO has requested resolutions from 
the Beaches Communities showing continuing support for this study. 

BUDGET: N/A

RECOMMENDATION: Approve Resolution No. 2021-05

ATTACHMENT: 1. Res. No. 2021-05

Page 179 of 183

Item # 10A
Res. No. 2021-05



Resolution No. 2021-05 Page 1 of 2 

RESOLUTION NO. 2021-05 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF NEPTUNE BEACH REQUESTING 
A BEACHES TRAIL LOOP/EAST COAST GREENWAY FEASIBILITY 
STUDY BE INCLUDED IN THE NORTH FLORIDA TRANSPORTATION 
PLANNING ORGANIZATION’S 2021/2022 UNIFIED PLANNING 
WORK PROGRAM. 

WHEREAS, the East Coast Greenway is a proposed 3,000-mile, shared-use 
pathway that will pass through Duval County to connect cities along the eastern 
seaboard from Calias, Maine to Key West, Florida; and 

WHEREAS, the Greenway, considered the “urban equivalent of the Appalachian 
Trail”, will pass through sites showcasing the nation’s scenic, historic, and cultural 
diversity; and 

WHEREAS, the Greenway will spur the building of a network of pedestrian and 
bicycling greenways through the Beaches Communities of Duval County, a goal 
supported by the City of Neptune Beach; and 

WHEREAS, the Greenway will serve bicyclists, walkers, the physically challenged, 
and other non-motorized users, both residents and long-distance travelers; and 

WHEREAS, the Greenway, by providing an off-road route separated from 
vehicular traffic, will encourage people of all ages to increase the time they spend 
outdoors, offering improved health and physical fitness through improved access to their 
communities; and 

WHEREAS, the City of Neptune Beach procured the services of Dover, Kohl & 
Partners in 2019 to develop a section devoted to Beautiful Streets &Trails as part of the 
Neptune Beach Vision Plan; and 

WHEREAS, the City of Jacksonville Beach has created an Urban Trails Committee 
that has developed a preliminary trail connectivity plan; and 

WHEREAS, the City of Atlantic Beach Planning & Community Development 
Department has developed a draft Bicycle and Pedestrian Connectivity plan; and 

WHEREAS, the City of Neptune Beach, the City of Atlantic Beach, and the City of 
Jacksonville Beach would all benefit from a feasibility study identifying a Beaches Trail 
Loop/East Coast Greenway route that crosses municipality boundaries and coordinates 
with the planning efforts of each of the Beaches Communities 

Page 180 of 183



Resolution No. 2021-05 Page 2 of 2  

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
NEPTUNE BEACH, FLORIDA, THAT: 

 
SECTION 1. The City of Neptune Beach hereby authorizes the formal request 

and does formally request that the North Florida Transportation Planning Organization 
include a Beaches Trail Loop/East Coast Greenway Feasibility Study in the 2021/2022 
Unified Planning Work Program. 

 
SECTION 2. This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon its 

adoption. 
 
This Resolution adopted by the City Council of Neptune Beach, Florida, at the Regular 
Council Meeting held this 1st  of  March, 2021. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
        
       Elaine Brown, Mayor 
 
 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
Catherine Ponson, CMC 
City Clerk 

 
 

 

Page 181 of 183



  
UNIFIED PLANNING WORK PROGRAM FOR FISCAL YEARS 2021/22 THROUGH 2021/22       
ADOPTED MAY 14. 2020    AMENDED JUNE 11, 2020 111 

 

Task 5.10―East Coast Greenways (Beaches) Feasibility Study 
Responsible Agency 
North Florida Transportation Planning Organization 

Purpose 
To determine the feasibility of constructing a trail parallel to the beach through Atlantic, Neptune and Jacksonville Beaches. 

Previous Work 
• North Florida Regional Bicycle and Pedestrian Master Plan 
• North Florida Regional Multi-Use Trail Master Plan 

Required Activities 
• Coordinate with staff in Neptune and Jacksonville Beaches to identify potential alignments 
• Develop preliminary cost estimate 

• Coordinate with Atlantic, Neptune and Jacksonville Beaches for public outreach 

Milestones/End Products/Target Dates 
• Public outreach consistent with the Public Participation Plan, Fall 2020 
• Draft document for review March 2021 
• Final document for publication and posting June 2021 

  

Page 182 of 183



  
UNIFIED PLANNING WORK PROGRAM FOR FISCAL YEARS 2021/22 THROUGH 2021/22       
ADOPTED MAY 14. 2020    AMENDED JUNE 11, 2020 112 

 

  

 

  

Task 5.10-East Coast Greenway (Beaches) Feasibility Study 
FISCAL YEAR 2021/22 

Budget Category FHWA (SU) TOTAL 

a. Personnel Services                             -                                            -    

b. Consultant Services                    75,000                                75,000  

c. Other Direct Services                             -                                            -    

Total Other Direct Services                             -                                            -    

GRAND TOTAL                    75,000                                75,000  

Page 183 of 183


	AGENDA
	3. APPROVAL OF MINUTES
	A. February 1, 2021 Regular City Council Meeting
 Feb
	February minutes

	February 16, 2021 Special Meeting
	February 16, 2021 Workshop

	5. COMMENTS FROM THE PUBLIC
	6. CONSENT AGENDA / NONE
	7. VARIANCES / SPECIAL EXCEPTIONS / DEVELOPMENT ORDERS
	A. Second of Two Public Hearings—Development Agreemen
	Staff Report
	Development Agreement - Neptune Beach FL Realty LLC - 02.08.21

	B. V20-01 Application for variance as outlined in Cha
	V20-01

	CDB Minutes 09-16-2021

	8. ORDINANCES
	A. ORDINANCE NO. 2021-01, FIRST READ AND PUBLIC HEARI
	Staff Report
	Ord. No. 2021-01, Parking


	10. NEW BUSINESS 
	A. RESOLUTION NO. 2021-05, A Resolution of the City o
	Staff Report
	Res. No. 2021-05

	B. Discussion of Resident-Requested Statement Concern




